
City of Capitola Agenda  

 

   

Mayor: Kristen Petersen  

Vice Mayor: Yvette Brooks  

Council Members: Jacques Bertrand  

 Ed Bottorff  

 Sam Storey  

   

 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
7:00 PM 

 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA, CA  95010 
 
 

All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item. 
 
All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings. 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Jacques Bertrand, Ed Bottorff, Yvette Brooks, Sam Storey, and Mayor 
Kristen Petersen 

 2. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet. 

 3. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 

 4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on 
any item not on the Agenda.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   
Individuals may not speak more than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must 
address the entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All 
speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so 
that their name may be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is 
set aside for Oral Communications at this time. 

   

 

 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
January 23, 2020 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 1/17/2020 12:27 PM 

 

 5. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS 

City Council Members/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or identify issues 
for staff response or future council consideration. No individual shall speak for more than 
two minutes. 

 6. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS 

A. Consider Appointments to the Finance Advisory Committee 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Council appointment of the business representative and 
determination of whether to make an individual appointment or extend recruitment. 

 7. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed 
below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council 
votes on the action unless members of the public or the City Council request specific items 
to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered 
following General Government. 
 
Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have 
been read by title and further reading waived. 

A. Consider the January 9, 2020, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Approval of City Check Registers Dated December 6, December 13, December 20 
and December 27, 2019 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 

C. Consider the Budget Calendar for the 2020/21 Fiscal Year 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Budget Calendar. 

 8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council 
deliberation; 5) Decision. 

A. Overview of New State Requirements for Accessory Dwelling Units 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept staff presentation and provide general direction 
to the Planning Commission on the preferred approach for the new ordinance.  

B. Consider a New Photo Traffic Enforcement Contract 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Enter into a five-year contract with Verra Mobility, 
formerly American Traffic Solutions, for red light photo enforcement services and 
authorize the City Manager or designee to sign the agreement.  

C. Discuss Developing a Code of Conduct 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Form a City Council ad hoc subcommittee to work with 
staff to create a draft Code of Conduct policy for review by the full City Council. 

 9. ADJOURNMENT 

 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
January 23, 2020 

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 1/17/2020 12:27 PM 

 
Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court. 
 
Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org and at Capitola City Hall prior to 
the meeting. Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, 
Capitola. Need more information? Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting 
Agendas/Videos.” Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at any time. 

 



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Appointments to the Finance Advisory Committee  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Council appointment of the business representative and 
determination of whether to make an individual appointment or extend recruitment. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: Finance Advisory Committee (FAC) business representative 

Toni Castro submitted her resignation in December 2019 and the Capitola-Soquel Chamber of 

Commerce has recommended Pete Cullen as the new representative (Attachment 1). 

Additionally, at the December 19, 2019, City Council Reorganization meeting, Vice Mayor 

Yvette Brooks chose to serve on the FAC. That eliminated her need for an appointee and 

created an appointment for Council Member Jacques Bertrand. Recruitment had just closed as 

the agenda packet was being assembled and Council Member Bertrand will either announce an 

appointment or extend recruitment at the meeting. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Cullen Finance Application 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

6.A

Packet Pg. 4



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 5

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

u
lle

n
 F

in
an

ce
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
F

A
C

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

en
ts

)



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

u
lle

n
 F

in
an

ce
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
F

A
C

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

en
ts

)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the January 9, 2020, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes of the regular 

meeting of January 9, 2020. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 1-9 draft minutes 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.A

Packet Pg. 7



 

 

DRAFT 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 9, 2020  

 
 

Mayor Petersen called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. with the following in attendance: 

Council Member Jacques Bertrand: Present; Council Member Ed Bottorff: Present; Council 
Member Sam Storey: Present; Vice Mayor Yvette Brooks: Present; Mayor Kristen Petersen: 
Present. 
 

There were no members of the public present and the Council adjourned to the City Manager’s 
Office to discuss the following items in closed session: 
 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54957.6] 

Negotiators: Larry Laurent, Samantha Zutler 
Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Capitola Police 
Captains, (3) Confidential Employees; (4) Mid-Management Group; and (5) Department 
Heads 
 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL –  ANTICIPATED LITIGATION  

Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(4). 

(One potential case) 
 
LIABILITY CLAIMS [Gov’t Code § 54956.95] 
Claimant: Stacy Austin 
Agency claimed against: City of Capitola 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7 PM 

 1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 2. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 

City Attorney Samantha Zutler reported that Council discussed the listed items and provided 
direction. The claim will be voted on later on the consent calendar. 

 3. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS - None 

 4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA - None 

 5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

      Cherie McCoy addressed the redevelopment of Capitola Mall. 
 

Carin Hanna invited the community to the Business Improvement Area’s (BIA) February 8 
Sip and Stroll, which benefits the Capitola Foundation for CPR training and Capitola Parks 
and Recreation. All Business Improvement Area events support local nonprofits. 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

-9
 d

ra
ft

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 9, 2020 

 

 6. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS 

Council Member Brooks invited the community to five-year strategic plan release events for 
the County Office of Education on January 21 and January 28. 
 
Council Member Sam Storey noted today is law enforcement appreciation day and thanked 
the members of Capitola Police for their service. 
 
Council Member Bertrand encouraged participation in the Recreation Division and Regional 
Transportation Commission surveys. 
 

Council Member Bottorff announced he will miss a few regular meetings through March 26. 

 7. CONSENT CALENDAR 

MOTION: APPROVE OR REJECT AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Sam Storey, Council Member 

AYES: Bottorff, Bertrand, Storey, Petersen, Brooks 

A. Consider the December 19, 2019, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Liability Claim of Stacy Austin [Claims Binder] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Reject liability claim. 

 8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Consider Contracts with the City of Santa Cruz Marine Safety Division for Beach 
Lifeguard Services and with Central Fire Protection District for Lifeguard Training 
Services 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to sign one-year contracts in 
an amount not to exceed $91,500 with the City of Santa Cruz Marine Safety Division 
and $13,000 with Central Fire Protection District. 

Recreation Supervisor Nikki Bryant LeBlond presented the staff report, noting there are 
two different contracts and fire departments involved. Plans to transition to Central Fire 
Protection District for all services were delayed by its consolidation with Aptos/La Selva 
Beach Fire District. 

 
There was no public comment. 
 

MOTION: AUTHORIZE THE CONTRACTS AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey, Council Member 

SECONDER: Yvette Brooks, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Bottorff, Bertrand, Storey, Petersen, Brooks 

 

B. Report on Damage Sustained on the Capitola Wharf 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive a report on the January 1, 2020, damage to 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

-9
 d

ra
ft

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 9, 2020 

 

the Capitola Wharf; ratify emergency actions taken to protect the wharf; if necessary, 
approve additional emergency actions to facilitate repairs to the wharf; and authorize 
associated expenditures from Measure F funding. 

 
Public Works Director Steve Jesberg presented the staff report. Emergency repairs from 
the January 1 damage have been completed with a steel beam and a safety railing 
installed. It reopened January 9. Estimated costs are $25,000 to date. The broken pilings 
need replacement and the landing rebuilt. Inspections will still be required. No additional 
action is required at this time. 
 
In public comment, Willie Case, owner of the Wharf House, thanked Director Jesberg 
and his staff for their expedient work to reopen the wharf.  
 
Council encouraged staff to include work from the larger wharf improvement project as 
allowed and directed that any new pile should be of the type planned for the repairs. 
 

MOTION: RATIFY EMERGENCY ACTIONS AND AUTHORIZE ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURES FROM MEASURE F. 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Council Member 

AYES: Bottorff, Bertrand, Storey, Petersen, Brooks 

C. Consider Items for a Municipal Code Title 2 Administration Cleanup Ordinance 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Provide direction. 
 
The City Clerk presented the staff report, requesting direction for the removal 
process for planning commissioners, how referrals to advisory bodies should be 
handled, and whether to retain language allowing board and commission chairs the 
right to unilaterally place an item on a Council agenda. Council also requested 
including a process for removal of a mayor. 
 
Council supported creating two options for planning commissioner removal: by the 
appointing Council member or by majority action of the Council. There was extended 
debate over whether it should require a regular or super majority to remove either a 
planning commissioner or a mayor, and if a supermajority is preferred, is it of the 
members present or of the total Council membership. 
 
Council held a lengthy discussion about referrals to an advisory body. Some 
members see referrals and requests as synonymous while others said asking a body 
if it wishes to review an item is a different action. The majority supported requiring a 
referral to be agendized by a vote of the Council. 
 
Council unanimously supported removing language allowing advisory chairs to place 
items on Council agendas. 
 

RESULT: DIRECTION PROVIDED 

 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

-9
 d

ra
ft

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 9, 2020 

 

D. Annual Donations Report 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive the donations and contributions report. 

 
Finance Director Jim Malberg presented the staff report. He noted many of the Art & 
Cultural programs, such as concerts and movies, are supported annually by local 
business donations. The library paver program has also been very successful. 

 

RESULT: RECEIVED  REPORT 

 9. ADJOURNMENT 

 The meeting adjourned at 8:52 p.m. 
 

     ____________________________ 
     Kristen Petersen, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

-9
 d

ra
ft

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers Dated December 6, December 13, December 

20 and December 27, 2019  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 
 

Account: City Main 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

12/06/2019 94386 94464 83 $234,502.58 

12/13/2019 94465 94514 55 $252,078.44 

12/20/2019 94515 94593 79 $250,135.48 

12/27/2019 94594 94599 11 $100,586.99 

The main account check register dated November 29, 2019, ended with check #94385. 
 

Account: Library 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

12/06/2019 163 164 2 $334,226.25 

12/13/2019 165 166 2 $    8,175.23 

12/20/2019 167 169 3 $719,312.69 

The library account check register dated November 22, 2019, ended with check #162. 
 

Account: Payroll 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

12/06/2019 5638 5641 100 $174,666.96 

12/20/2019 5642 5644 99 $170,419.38 

The payroll account check register dated November 22, 2019, ended with check #5637. 
 
Following is a list of payments issued for more than $10,000 and descriptions of the expenditures: 
 

Check/

EFT 
Issued to Dept Description Amount 

94394 Burke Williams & Sorensen CM October city attorney services $  16,605.52 

94416 Kimley Horn and Associates PW Brommer Street project and $  12,178.02 

7.B

Packet Pg. 12



Approval of City Check Registers  
January 23, 2020 
 

grant funded traffic signal 

adaptive control services 

94437 Pacific Gas and Electric PW November gas and electricity $  13,379.46 

864 CalPERS Health Insurance CM December health insurance $  64,194.75 

865 CalPERS Member Services CM 
PERS contributions 

PPE 11/16/19 
$  54,009.63 

163 John F. Otto Inc. Escrow PW 
October library construction 

retainer 
$  16,711.31 

164 Otto Construction Inc. PW 
October library construction 

services 
$317,514.94 

94485 JHS Consulting LLC CDD 

October and November mall 

project management and 

environmental consulting 

$  29,289.04 

94499 RRM Design Group CDD 
October Mall architectural 

design consulting 
$  11,396.83 

94500 Safety Striping Service PW 41st Avenue striping services $  28,596.35 

866 IRS FN 
Federal taxes & Medicare 

PPE 11/30/19 
$  29,207.35 

870 CalPERS Member Services CM 
PERS contributions 

PPE 11/30/19 
$  53,412.83 

94548 Moffatt and Nichol PW 

Wharf design, permitting, 

meetings, reimbursable 

expenses 

$  15,258.71 

94550 Pacific Gas and Electric PW December gas and electricity $  13,993.47 

94558 
Santa Cruz County 

Department of Public Works 
PW 

Slurry seal on Thompson and 

Bulb Avenues 
$  19,157.60 

94560 Santa Cruz Regional 911 PD 
Regional 911 3rd quarter 

contribution 
$123,176.75 

168 John F. Otto Inc. Escrow PW November library retainer $  35,938.63 

169 Otto Construction Inc. PW 
November library construction 

services 
$682,834.06 

872 CalPERS Member Services CM 
PERS contributions 

PPE 12/14/19 
$  51,896.82 

874 IRS FN 
Federal taxes & Medicare 

PPE 12/14/19 
$  29,071.54 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 12/06/19 City Check Register 
2. 12/13/19 City Check Register 
3. 12/20/19 City Check Register 
4. 12/27/19 City Check Register 

 
Report Prepared By:   Maura Herlihy 
 Accountant I 
 

7.B

Packet Pg. 13



Approval of City Check Registers  
January 23, 2020 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.B

Packet Pg. 14



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
06

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.2

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
13

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.3

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
20

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.4

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
27

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.4

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
27

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



7.B.4

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

2/
27

/1
9 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the Budget Calendar for the 2020/21 Fiscal Year  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Budget Calendar. 
 
BACKGROUND: The Capitola Municipal Code requires the City prepare and disseminate a 

budget calendar on or before March 1 of any fiscal year. The attached calendar provides dates 

for budget study sessions, hearings, meetings, and other significant budget events. 

 

DISCUSSION: Staff has prepared the attached draft Budget Calendar for Fiscal Year 2020/21. 
The budget cycle begins with a Finance Advisory Committee meeting on February 18, 2020, 
followed by the regular City Council/Successor Agency meeting on February 27, 2020. These 
two meetings will focus on receiving the mid-year budget update and establishing Fiscal Year 
2020/21 budget principles. The budgeting principles will guide staff’s preparation of the 
proposed budget.   
 
Pursuant to this calendar, the proposed budget will be distributed on Friday, May 1, 2020, and 
the presentation of the City and Successor Agency Budgets is scheduled for a Special Meeting 
on Wednesday, May 6. This is a tentative schedule that may be changed as necessary by the 
City Manager and/or Council. Some meetings may be cancelled if they become unnecessary 
based on prior sessions.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Budget Calendar FY 20-21 
 

Report Prepared By:   Jim Malberg 
 Finance Director 
 

7.C

Packet Pg. 51



Budget Calendar  
January 23, 2020 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.C

Packet Pg. 52



 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA                       
BUDGET CALENDAR - 2020/21 FISCAL YEAR 

 

The City Manager and/or the City Council may change this tentative schedule.   
NOTE:  Some meetings may be cancelled if they become unnecessary based on prior sessions.  

Meeting 
Date 
2020 

Week/Day Nature of Meeting Description 

February 18 3rd Tuesday Finance Advisory Committee 
Finance Advisory Committee to 
discuss Budget Principles and 
Timeline  

February 27 4th Thursday 
*Regular City 

Council/Successor Agency 
Establish Budgeting Principles / mid-
year presentation 

April 2 1st Thursday Planning Commission 
Planning Commission review of the 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 

April 21 3rd Tuesday Finance Advisory Committee 
Finance Advisory Committee to 
discuss proposed Budget  

May 1 1st Friday N/A Proposed budget distribution 

May 5 
 

1st Tuesday 
Special Finance Advisory 

Committee 

Finance Advisory Committee to 
discuss proposed Budget and draft 
presentation with recommendations 
to Council 

 
May 6 

 
1st Wednesday 

*Special 
 Joint City Council/ 
Successor Agency 

Presentation of City, Successor 
Agency & CIP Budgets 

May 14 2nd Thursday 
*Regular City 

Council/Successor Agency 
 
 

  

May 21 3rd Thursday 
*Special 

 Joint City Council/ 
Successor Agency 

- Finance Advisory Committee 
Presentation  

- Council Deliberations 

May 28 4th Thursday 
*Regular City 

Council/Successor Agency 
 

June 3 1st Wednesday 
*Special 

 Joint City Council/ 
Successor Agency 

 

 
-    Council Deliberations 
 

June 11 2nd Thursday 
*Regular City 

Council/Successor Agency 
 

Reports from Finance:   
Appropriations Limit Resolution and 
Investment Policy 

June 16 3rd Tuesday Finance Advisory Committee 
Finance Advisory Committee to 
discuss proposed Budget and draft 
presentation  

 
June 18 

 
3rd Thursday 

*Special 
 Joint City Council/ 
Successor Agency 

 

Final City Council and Successor 
Agency Budget deliberations (If 
necessary) 

June 25 4th Thursday 
*Regular City 

Council/Successor Agency 
 

Final Adoption of the City and 
Successor Agency Budgets and 
Pertinent Resolutions 

NOTE: Special meetings will begin at 6:00 p.m., all Regular meetings begin at 7:00 p.m. Meetings with an asterisk 
(*) are held in the City Hall Council Chambers and will be televised “Live” on Charter Communications Cable 
Channel 8. The Finance Advisory Committee Meetings begins at 6:00 pm, and are scheduled to be held in the 
Community Room.   

7.C.1

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 C
al

en
d

ar
 F

Y
 2

0-
21

  (
B

u
d

g
et

 C
al

en
d

ar
)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  Community Development 
 
SUBJECT: Overview of New State Requirements for Accessory Dwelling Units  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept staff presentation and provide general direction to the 
Planning Commission on the preferred approach for the new ordinance.  
 
BACKGROUND: The California State Legislature brought forward several bills in 2019 related to 
the planning for and permitting of accessory dwelling units (ADUs). In October 2019, the 
Governor signed into law Assembly Bill (AB) 68, AB 881, and Senate Bill (SB) 13 amending the 
section of the California Government Code related to ADUs (Government Code Section 
65852.2). Additionally, AB 68 amended standards for Junior ADUs, and SB 13 made additions 
to the State Health and Safety Code (adding Section 1790.12). The new laws took effect on 
January 1, 2020.   
 
Portions of the Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 17.74: Accessory Dwelling Units are 
inconsistent with the new State legislation.  While the City is currently enforcing the State 
legislation, and thus fully in compliance with the law, it should amend its Ordinance to be 
consistent with the law. On January 16, 2020, City staff presented the new state ADU 
regulations to the Planning Commission. Upon hearing the state requirements, the Planning 
Commission requested the City Council provide general direction on the approach staff should 
take for the draft ordinance.  The Planning Commission will review the draft ordinance on 
February 6.  Assuming it recommends the ordinance with no or minor changes, staff intends to 
bring the Ordinance to the City Council for a first reading on February 27.    
   
DISCUSSION: The new state laws regarding ADUs are complex and will have significant 
impacts on the treatment of ADUs in Capitola’s single-family, multi-family, and mixed-use zoning 
districts. In preparation for the upcoming first reading of the draft ordinance, staff is providing 
Council with an overview of the requirements of the new state law.  The following list identifies 
the most significant changes in state law that must be incorporated into the zoning code:  
 
1. Requires action on ADU applications within 60 days.   
2. Adds a limited review process for ADUs that fall within four specific scenarios.  The limited 

review process must include the specific scenarios and the limited review criteria that may 
be applied to each scenario.  The City may not apply additional standards (such as open 
space or lot coverage) that are not identified within the state law. 

3. Expands permitted location of ADUs to include any zoning district where single-family or 
multi-family dwellings are allowed.  This includes all residential, mixed-use, and commercial 
zoning districts. 

8.A

Packet Pg. 54



Overview of New Legislation for Accessory Dwelling Units  
January 23, 2020 
 
4. On multi-family properties, allows more than one ADU per parcel if specific circumstances 

are met.  
5. On single-family properties, allows a Junior ADU in conjunction with a detached ADU if 

specific circumstances are met. 
6. Prohibits the City from applying development standards that would prevent an ADU that is a 

maximum of 16-foot-tall, 800-square-feet in size, and located four feet from rear and side 
property lines.   

7. Allows conversion and replacement of existing structures with nonconforming setbacks and 
nonconforming building separation standards for ADUs. 

8. Modifies development standards regulations, as follows: 
a. Removes minimum parcel size 
b. Increases maximum unit size  
c. Reduces minimum setbacks (four feet side and rear) 
d. Increases height (16 feet) for one-story detached ADU 

9. Removes parking requirements for internal ADUs, attached ADUs, and junior ADUs. 
10. Modifies parking requirements for detached ADUs with specific characteristics, such as 

being located within one-half mile walking distance of public transit. 
11. Limits review to objective standards (measurable, quantitative) and architectural standards 

(specific materials) rather than subjective development standards (compatibility, privacy). 
12. Allows objective standards to minimize adverse impacts to historic properties consistent with 

the Secretary of the Interior Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties. 
13. Removes size, attribute, and owner-occupancy deed restriction requirements for ADUs, 

except junior ADUs. 
14. Provides an option for cities to allow separate sale of deed-restricted affordable ADUs by a 

non-profit corporation.   
 
As the list above demonstrates, the state has provided highly prescriptive guidance on how 
ADUs in specific circumstances should reviewed and standards that may be applied. The 
Planning Commission would like general guidance from the City Council on its preferred 
approach.  The City has the option to draft the ordinance to be less stringent than state law in 
terms of development standards (allow additional height, decreased setbacks, remove parking 
requirements) and not include objective design standards.  Or the City can create an ordinance 
that mirrors state law in terms of the maximum height, setbacks, and parking and included 
added protection of objective design standards.  The City also has the option to draft the 
ordinance to be less stringent in terms of process and allow administrative approval of all ADUs 
regardless of how many stories. Historically, two-story ADUs or ADUs that do not comply with 
all review standards require Planning Commission approval.  Lastly, owner occupancy deed 
restrictions are prohibited until 2025 (except for Junior ADUs).  The City Council has the option 
to remove the owner occupancy requirements from all prior deed restricted units.  
         
CEQA: The Council’s discussion of the amended State legislation is not a project under CEQA 
and thus does not require a CEQA determination. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Government Code 65852.2 - Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020 
2. Government Code 65852.22 - Junior Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020 
3. Health and Safety Code 18007 - Manufactured Homes - 01.01.2008 

 
Report Prepared By:   Katie Herlihy 
 Community Development Director 

8.A

Packet Pg. 55



Overview of New Legislation for Accessory Dwelling Units  
January 23, 2020 
 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.A

Packet Pg. 56



State of California

GOVERNMENT CODE 

Section  65852.2 

65852.2. (a)  (1)  A local agency may, by ordinance, provide for the creation of 
accessory dwelling units in areas zoned to allow single-family or multifamily dwelling 
residential use. The ordinance shall do all of the following:

(A)  Designate areas within the jurisdiction of the local agency where accessory 
dwelling units may be permitted. The designation of areas may be based on the 
adequacy of water and sewer services and the impact of accessory dwelling units on 
traffic flow and public safety. A local agency that does not provide water or sewer
services shall consult with the local water or sewer service provider regarding the 
adequacy of water and sewer services before designating an area where accessory 
dwelling units may be permitted. 

(B)  (i)  Impose standards on accessory dwelling units that include, but are not 
limited to, parking, height, setback, landscape, architectural review, maximum size 
of a unit, and standards that prevent adverse impacts on any real property that is listed 
in the California Register of Historic Resources. These standards shall not include 
requirements on minimum lot size. 

(ii)  Notwithstanding clause (i), a local agency may reduce or eliminate parking 
requirements for any accessory dwelling unit located within its jurisdiction. 

(C)  Provide that accessory dwelling units do not exceed the allowable density for 
the lot upon which the accessory dwelling unit is located, and that accessory dwelling 
units are a residential use that is consistent with the existing general plan and zoning 
designation for the lot. 

(D)  Require the accessory dwelling units to comply with all of the following:
(i)  The accessory dwelling unit may be rented separate from the primary residence, 

but may not be sold or otherwise conveyed separate from the primary residence. 
(ii)  The lot is zoned to allow single-family or multifamily dwelling residential use 

and includes a proposed or existing dwelling. 
(iii)  The accessory dwelling unit is either attached to, or located within, the proposed 

or existing primary dwelling, including attached garages, storage areas or similar 
uses, or an accessory structure or detached from the proposed or existing primary 
dwelling and located on the same lot as the proposed or existing primary dwelling. 

(iv)  If there is an existing primary dwelling, the total floor area of an attached 
accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 50 percent of the existing primary dwelling. 

(v)  The total floor area for a detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed
1,200 square feet. 

(vi)  No passageway shall be required in conjunction with the construction of an 
accessory dwelling unit. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUTHENTICATED 
ELECTRONIC LEGAL MATERIAL

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



(vii)  No setback shall be required for an existing living area or accessory structure 
or a structure constructed in the same location and to the same dimensions as an 
existing structure that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit or to a portion of an 
accessory dwelling unit, and a setback of no more than four feet from the side and 
rear lot lines shall be required for an accessory dwelling unit that is not converted
from an existing structure or a new structure constructed in the same location and to 
the same dimensions as an existing structure. 

(viii)  Local building code requirements that apply to detached dwellings, as 
appropriate.

(ix)  Approval by the local health officer where a private sewage disposal system 
is being used, if required. 

(x)  (I)  Parking requirements for accessory dwelling units shall not exceed one 
parking space per accessory dwelling unit or per bedroom, whichever is less. These
spaces may be provided as tandem parking on a driveway.

(II)  Offstreet parking shall be permitted in setback areas in locations determined 
by the local agency or through tandem parking, unless specific findings are made that 
parking in setback areas or tandem parking is not feasible based upon specific site or 
regional topographical or fire and life safety conditions. 

(III)  This clause shall not apply to an accessory dwelling unit that is described in 
subdivision (d). 

(xi)  When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in 
conjunction with the construction of an accessory dwelling unit or converted to an 
accessory dwelling unit, the local agency shall not require that those offstreet parking 
spaces be replaced. 

(xii)  Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if 
they are not required for the primary residence. 

(2)  The ordinance shall not be considered in the application of any local ordinance, 
policy, or program to limit residential growth.

(3)  A permit application for an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory 
dwelling unit shall be considered and approved ministerially without discretionary 
review or a hearing, notwithstanding Section 65901 or 65906 or any local ordinance 
regulating the issuance of variances or special use permits. The permitting agency
shall act on the application to create an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory 
dwelling unit within 60 days from the date the local agency receives a completed 
application if there is an existing single-family or multifamily dwelling on the lot. If 
the permit application to create an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory 
dwelling unit is submitted with a permit application to create a new single-family
dwelling on the lot, the permitting agency may delay acting on the permit application 
for the accessory dwelling unit or the junior accessory dwelling unit until the permitting 
agency acts on the permit application to create the new single-family dwelling, but
the application to create the accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit 
shall be considered without discretionary review or hearing. If the applicant requests 
a delay, the 60-day time period shall be tolled for the period of the delay. A local 
agency may charge a fee to reimburse it for costs incurred to implement this paragraph, 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



including the costs of adopting or amending any ordinance that provides for the 
creation of an accessory dwelling unit. 

(4)  An existing ordinance governing the creation of an accessory dwelling unit by 
a local agency or an accessory dwelling ordinance adopted by a local agency shall 
provide an approval process that includes only ministerial provisions for the approval
of accessory dwelling units and shall not include any discretionary processes, 
provisions, or requirements for those units, except as otherwise provided in this 
subdivision. If a local agency has an existing accessory dwelling unit ordinance that 
fails to meet the requirements of this subdivision, that ordinance shall be null and 
void and that agency shall thereafter apply the standards established in this subdivision
for the approval of accessory dwelling units, unless and until the agency adopts an 
ordinance that complies with this section. 

(5)  No other local ordinance, policy, or regulation shall be the basis for the delay 
or denial of a building permit or a use permit under this subdivision.

(6)  This subdivision establishes the maximum standards that local agencies shall 
use to evaluate a proposed accessory dwelling unit on a lot that includes a proposed 
or existing single-family dwelling. No additional standards, other than those provided
in this subdivision, shall be used or imposed, including any owner-occupant
requirement, except that a local agency may require that the property be used for 
rentals of terms longer than 30 days. 

(7)  A local agency may amend its zoning ordinance or general plan to incorporate 
the policies, procedures, or other provisions applicable to the creation of an accessory 
dwelling unit if these provisions are consistent with the limitations of this subdivision.

(8)  An accessory dwelling unit that conforms to this subdivision shall be deemed 
to be an accessory use or an accessory building and shall not be considered to exceed
the allowable density for the lot upon which it is located, and shall be deemed to be 
a residential use that is consistent with the existing general plan and zoning 
designations for the lot. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered in the 
application of any local ordinance, policy, or program to limit residential growth.

(b)  When a local agency that has not adopted an ordinance governing accessory 
dwelling units in accordance with subdivision (a) receives an application for a permit 
to create an accessory dwelling unit pursuant to this subdivision, the local agency
shall approve or disapprove the application ministerially without discretionary review
pursuant to subdivision (a). The permitting agency shall act on the application to 
create an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit within 60 days 
from the date the local agency receives a completed application if there is an existing
single-family or multifamily dwelling on the lot. If the permit application to create 
an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit is submitted with a 
permit application to create a new single-family dwelling on the lot, the permitting 
agency may delay acting on the permit application for the accessory dwelling unit or 
the junior accessory dwelling unit until the permitting agency acts on the permit 
application to create the new single-family dwelling, but the application to create the 
accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit shall still be considered 
ministerially without discretionary review or a hearing. If the applicant requests a 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



delay, the 60-day time period shall be tolled for the period of the delay. If the local 
agency has not acted upon the completed application within 60 days, the application 
shall be deemed approved.

(c)  (1)  Subject to paragraph (2), a local agency may establish minimum and 
maximum unit size requirements for both attached and detached accessory dwelling 
units.

(2)  Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a local agency shall not establish by ordinance 
any of the following:

(A)  A minimum square footage requirement for either an attached or detached 
accessory dwelling unit that prohibits an efficiency unit. 

(B)  A maximum square footage requirement for either an attached or detached 
accessory dwelling unit that is less than either of the following:

(i)  850 square feet. 
(ii)  1,000 square feet for an accessory dwelling unit that provides more than one 

bedroom.
(C)  Any other minimum or maximum size for an accessory dwelling unit, size 

based upon a percentage of the proposed or existing primary dwelling, or limits on 
lot coverage, floor area ratio, open space, and minimum lot size, for either attached 
or detached dwellings that does not permit at least an 800 square foot accessory 
dwelling unit that is at least 16 feet in height with four-foot side and rear yard setbacks 
to be constructed in compliance with all other local development standards. 

(d)  Notwithstanding any other law, a local agency, whether or not it has adopted 
an ordinance governing accessory dwelling units in accordance with subdivision (a), 
shall not impose parking standards for an accessory dwelling unit in any of the 
following instances: 

(1)  The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half mile walking distance 
of public transit. 

(2)  The accessory dwelling unit is located within an architecturally and historically 
significant historic district. 

(3)  The accessory dwelling unit is part of the proposed or existing primary residence 
or an accessory structure. 

(4)  When on-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant 
of the accessory dwelling unit. 

(5)  When there is a car share vehicle located within one block of the accessory 
dwelling unit. 

(e)  (1)  Notwithstanding subdivisions (a) to (d), inclusive, a local agency shall 
ministerially approve an application for a building permit within a residential or 
mixed-use zone to create any of the following:

(A)  One accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit per lot with a 
proposed or existing single-family dwelling if all of the following apply: 

(i)  The accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit is within the 
proposed space of a single-family dwelling or existing space of a single-family
dwelling or accessory structure and may include an expansion of not more than 150 
square feet beyond the same physical dimensions as the existing accessory structure. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



An expansion beyond the physical dimensions of the existing accessory structure 
shall be limited to accommodating ingress and egress.

(ii)  The space has exterior access from the proposed or existing single-family
dwelling.

(iii)  The side and rear setbacks are sufficient for fire and safety.
(iv)  The junior accessory dwelling unit complies with the requirements of Section 

65852.22.
(B)  One detached, new construction, accessory dwelling unit that does not exceed

four-foot side and rear yard setbacks for a lot with a proposed or existing single-family
dwelling. The accessory dwelling unit may be combined with a junior accessory 
dwelling unit described in subparagraph (A). A local agency may impose the following
conditions on the accessory dwelling unit: 

(i)  A total floor area limitation of not more than 800 square feet. 
(ii)  A height limitation of 16 feet. 
(C)  (i)  Multiple accessory dwelling units within the portions of existing multifamily

dwelling structures that are not used as livable space, including, but not limited to, 
storage rooms, boiler rooms, passageways, attics, basements, or garages, if each unit 
complies with state building standards for dwellings. 

(ii)  A local agency shall allow at least one accessory dwelling unit within an 
existing multifamily dwelling and shall allow up to 25 percent of the existing
multifamily dwelling units. 

(D)  Not more than two accessory dwelling units that are located on a lot that has 
an existing multifamily dwelling, but are detached from that multifamily dwelling 
and are subject to a height limit of 16 feet and four-foot rear yard and side setbacks. 

(2)  A local agency shall not require, as a condition for ministerial approval of a 
permit application for the creation of an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory 
dwelling unit, the correction of nonconforming zoning conditions. 

(3)  The installation of fire sprinklers shall not be required in an accessory dwelling 
unit if sprinklers are not required for the primary residence. 

(4)  A local agency shall require that a rental of the accessory dwelling unit created 
pursuant to this subdivision be for a term longer than 30 days. 

(5)  A local agency may require, as part of the application for a permit to create an 
accessory dwelling unit connected to an onsite water treatment system, a percolation 
test completed within the last five years, or, if the percolation test has been recertified, 
within the last 10 years. 

(6)  Notwithstanding subdivision (c) and paragraph (1) a local agency that has 
adopted an ordinance by July 1, 2018, providing for the approval of accessory dwelling 
units in multifamily dwelling structures shall ministerially consider a permit application 
to construct an accessory dwelling unit that is described in paragraph (1), and may 
impose standards including, but not limited to, design, development, and historic 
standards on said accessory dwelling units. These standards shall not include 
requirements on minimum lot size. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



(f)  (1)  Fees charged for the construction of accessory dwelling units shall be 
determined in accordance with Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 66000) and 
Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 66012). 

(2)  An accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered by a local agency, special 
district, or water corporation to be a new residential use for purposes of calculating 
connection fees or capacity charges for utilities, including water and sewer service, 
unless the accessory dwelling unit was constructed with a new single-family dwelling. 

(3)  (A)  A local agency, special district, or water corporation shall not impose any
impact fee upon the development of an accessory dwelling unit less than 750 square 
feet. Any impact fees charged for an accessory dwelling unit of 750 square feet or 
more shall be charged proportionately in relation to the square footage of the primary 
dwelling unit. 

(B)  For purposes of this paragraph, “impact fee” has the same meaning as the term 
“fee” is defined in subdivision (b) of Section 66000, except that it also includes fees 
specified in Section 66477. “Impact fee” does not include any connection fee or 
capacity charge charged by a local agency, special district, or water corporation. 

(4)  For an accessory dwelling unit described in subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) 
of subdivision (e), a local agency, special district, or water corporation shall not require 
the applicant to install a new or separate utility connection directly between the 
accessory dwelling unit and the utility or impose a related connection fee or capacity 
charge, unless the accessory dwelling unit was constructed with a new single-family
home.

(5)  For an accessory dwelling unit that is not described in subparagraph (A) of 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (e), a local agency, special district, or water corporation 
may require a new or separate utility connection directly between the accessory 
dwelling unit and the utility. Consistent with Section 66013, the connection may be 
subject to a connection fee or capacity charge that shall be proportionate to the burden
of the proposed accessory dwelling unit, based upon either its square feet or the 
number of its drainage fixture unit (DFU) values, as defined in the Uniform Plumbing 
Code adopted and published by the International Association of Plumbing and 
Mechanical Officials, upon the water or sewer system. This fee or charge shall not 
exceed the reasonable cost of providing this service. 

(g)  This section does not limit the authority of local agencies to adopt less restrictive
requirements for the creation of an accessory dwelling unit. 

(h)  (1)  A local agency shall submit a copy of the ordinance adopted pursuant to 
subdivision (a) to the Department of Housing and Community Development within 
60 days after adoption. After adoption of an ordinance, the department may submit 
written findings to the local agency as to whether the ordinance complies with this 
section.

(2)  (A)  If the department finds that the local agency’s ordinance does not comply 
with this section, the department shall notify the local agency and shall provide the 
local agency with a reasonable time, no longer than 30 days, to respond to the findings 
before taking any other action authorized by this section. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



(B)  The local agency shall consider the findings made by the department pursuant 
to subparagraph (A) and shall do one of the following:

(i)  Amend the ordinance to comply with this section. 
(ii)  Adopt the ordinance without changes. The local agency shall include findings 

in its resolution adopting the ordinance that explain the reasons the local agency
believes that the ordinance complies with this section despite the findings of the 
department.

(3)  (A)  If the local agency does not amend its ordinance in response to the 
department’s findings or does not adopt a resolution with findings explaining the 
reason the ordinance complies with this section and addressing the department’s
findings, the department shall notify the local agency and may notify the Attorney
General that the local agency is in violation of state law.

(B)  Before notifying the Attorney General that the local agency is in violation of 
state law, the department may consider whether a local agency adopted an ordinance 
in compliance with this section between January 1, 2017, and January 1, 2020. 

(i)  The department may review, adopt, amend, or repeal guidelines to implement 
uniform standards or criteria that supplement or clarify the terms, references, and 
standards set forth in this section. The guidelines adopted pursuant to this subdivision
are not subject to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division
3 of Title 2. 

(j)  As used in this section, the following terms mean: 
(1)  “Accessory dwelling unit” means an attached or a detached residential dwelling 

unit that provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons and 
is located on a lot with a proposed or existing primary residence. It shall include 
permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same 
parcel as the single-family or multifamily dwelling is or will be situated. An accessory 
dwelling unit also includes the following:

(A)  An efficiency unit. 
(B)  A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health and Safety 

Code.
(2)  “Accessory structure” means a structure that is accessory and incidental to a 

dwelling located on the same lot. 
(3)  “Efficiency unit” has the same meaning as defined in Section 17958.1 of the 

Health and Safety Code. 
(4)  “Living area” means the interior habitable area of a dwelling unit, including 

basements and attics, but does not include a garage or any accessory structure. 
(5)  “Local agency” means a city, county, or city and county, whether general law

or chartered. 
(6)  “Neighborhood” has the same meaning as set forth in Section 65589.5. 
(7)  “Nonconforming zoning condition” means a physical improvement on a property 

that does not conform with current zoning standards. 
(8)  “Passageway” means a pathway that is unobstructed clear to the sky and extends

from a street to one entrance of the accessory dwelling unit. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



(9)  “Proposed dwelling” means a dwelling that is the subject of a permit application 
and that meets the requirements for permitting. 

(10)  “Public transit” means a location, including, but not limited to, a bus stop or 
train station, where the public may access buses, trains, subways, and other forms of 
transportation that charge set fares, run on fixed routes, and are available to the public. 

(11)  “Tandem parking” means that two or more automobiles are parked on a 
driveway or in any other location on a lot, lined up behind one another.

(k)  A local agency shall not issue a certificate of occupancy for an accessory 
dwelling unit before the local agency issues a certificate of occupancy for the primary 
dwelling.

(l)  Nothing in this section shall be construed to supersede or in any way alter or 
lessen the effect or application of the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Division 20 
(commencing with Section 30000) of the Public Resources Code), except that the 
local government shall not be required to hold public hearings for coastal development
permit applications for accessory dwelling units. 

(m)  A local agency may count an accessory dwelling unit for purposes of identifying 
adequate sites for housing, as specified in subdivision (a) of Section 65583.1, subject 
to authorization by the department and compliance with this division.

(n)  In enforcing building standards pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 
17960) of Chapter 5 of Part 1.5 of Division 13 of the Health and Safety Code for an 
accessory dwelling unit described in paragraph (1) or (2) below, a local agency, upon 
request of an owner of an accessory dwelling unit for a delay in enforcement, shall 
delay enforcement of a building standard, subject to compliance with Section 17980.12 
of the Health and Safety Code: 

(1)  The accessory dwelling unit was built before January 1, 2020. 
(2)  The accessory dwelling unit was built on or after January 1, 2020, in a local 

jurisdiction that, at the time the accessory dwelling unit was built, had a noncompliant 
accessory dwelling unit ordinance, but the ordinance is compliant at the time the 
request is made. 

(o)  This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025, and as of that 
date is repealed. 

(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 659, Sec. 1.5.  (AB 881)  Effective January 1, 2020.  Repealed as of 
January 1, 2025, by its own provisions.  See later operative version added by Sec. 2.5 of Stats. 2019, Ch. 
659.)

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
2 

- 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s 
- 

01
.0

1.
20

20
  (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



State of California

GOVERNMENT CODE 

Section  65852.22 

65852.22. (a)  Notwithstanding Section 65852.2, a local agency may, by ordinance, 
provide for the creation of junior accessory dwelling units in single-family residential 
zones. The ordinance may require a permit to be obtained for the creation of a junior 
accessory dwelling unit, and shall do all of the following:

(1)  Limit the number of junior accessory dwelling units to one per residential lot 
zoned for single-family residences with a single-family residence built, or proposed 
to be built, on the lot. 

(2)  Require owner-occupancy in the single-family residence in which the junior 
accessory dwelling unit will be permitted. The owner may reside in either the remaining 
portion of the structure or the newly created junior accessory dwelling unit. 
Owner-occupancy shall not be required if the owner is another governmental agency,
land trust, or housing organization.

(3)  Require the recordation of a deed restriction, which shall run with the land, 
shall be filed with the permitting agency, and shall include both of the following:

(A)  A prohibition on the sale of the junior accessory dwelling unit separate from 
the sale of the single-family residence, including a statement that the deed restriction 
may be enforced against future purchasers. 

(B)  A restriction on the size and attributes of the junior accessory dwelling unit 
that conforms with this section. 

(4)  Require a permitted junior accessory dwelling unit to be constructed within 
the walls of the proposed or existing single-family residence. 

(5)  Require a permitted junior accessory dwelling to include a separate entrance 
from the main entrance to the proposed or existing single-family residence. 

(6)  Require the permitted junior accessory dwelling unit to include an efficiency
kitchen, which shall include all of the following:

(A)  A cooking facility with appliances. 
(B)  A food preparation counter and storage cabinets that are of reasonable size in 

relation to the size of the junior accessory dwelling unit. 
(b)  (1)  An ordinance shall not require additional parking as a condition to grant 

a permit. 
(2)  This subdivision shall not be interpreted to prohibit the requirement of an 

inspection, including the imposition of a fee for that inspection, to determine if the 
junior accessory dwelling unit complies with applicable building standards. 

(c)  An application for a permit pursuant to this section shall, notwithstanding 
Section 65901 or 65906 or any local ordinance regulating the issuance of variances
or special use permits, be considered ministerially, without discretionary review or a 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUTHENTICATED 
ELECTRONIC LEGAL MATERIAL

8.A.2

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
22

 -
 J

u
n

io
r 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s 

- 
01

.0
1.

20
20

  (
O

ve
rv

ie
w

 o
f 

N
ew

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g



hearing. The permitting agency shall act on the application to create a junior accessory 
dwelling unit within 60 days from the date the local agency receives a completed 
application if there is an existing single-family dwelling on the lot. If the permit 
application to create a junior accessory dwelling unit is submitted with a permit 
application to create a new single-family dwelling on the lot, the permitting agency
may delay acting on the permit application for the junior accessory dwelling unit until 
the permitting agency acts on the permit application to create the new single-family
dwelling, but the application to create the junior accessory dwelling unit shall still be 
considered ministerially without discretionary review or a hearing. If the applicant 
requests a delay, the 60-day time period shall be tolled for the period of the delay. A
local agency may charge a fee to reimburse the local agency for costs incurred in 
connection with the issuance of a permit pursuant to this section. 

(d)  For purposes of any fire or life protection ordinance or regulation, a junior 
accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered a separate or new dwelling unit. This
section shall not be construed to prohibit a city, county, city and county, or other local 
public entity from adopting an ordinance or regulation relating to fire and life 
protection requirements within a single-family residence that contains a junior 
accessory dwelling unit so long as the ordinance or regulation applies uniformly to 
all single-family residences within the zone regardless of whether the single-family
residence includes a junior accessory dwelling unit or not. 

(e)  For purposes of providing service for water, sewer, or power, including a 
connection fee, a junior accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered a separate or 
new dwelling unit. 

(f)  This section shall not be construed to prohibit a local agency from adopting an 
ordinance or regulation, related to parking or a service or a connection fee for water,
sewer, or power, that applies to a single-family residence that contains a junior 
accessory dwelling unit, so long as that ordinance or regulation applies uniformly to 
all single-family residences regardless of whether the single-family residence includes 
a junior accessory dwelling unit. 

(g)  If a local agency has not adopted a local ordinance pursuant to this section, the 
local agency shall ministerially approve a permit to construct a junior accessory 
dwelling unit that satisfies the requirements set forth in subparagraph (A) of paragraph 
(1) of subdivision (e) of Section 65852.2 and the requirements of this section. 

(h)  For purposes of this section, the following terms have the following meanings: 
(1)  “Junior accessory dwelling unit” means a unit that is no more than 500 square 

feet in size and contained entirely within a single-family residence. A junior accessory 
dwelling unit may include separate sanitation facilities, or may share sanitation 
facilities with the existing structure. 

(2)  “Local agency” means a city, county, or city and county, whether general law
or chartered. 

(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 655, Sec. 2.  (AB 68)  Effective January 1, 2020.) 

8.A.2

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

C
o

d
e 

65
85

2.
22

 -
 J

u
n

io
r 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s 

- 
01

.0
1.

20
20

  (
O

ve
rv

ie
w

 o
f 

N
ew

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g



State of California

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE

Section  18007

18007. (a)  “Manufactured home,” for the purposes of this part, means a structure
that was constructed on or after June 15, 1976, is transportable in one or more sections,
is eight body feet or more in width, or 40 body feet or more in length, in the traveling
mode, or, when erected on site, is 320 or more square feet, is built on a permanent
chassis and designed to be used as a single-family dwelling with or without a
foundation when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating,
air conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein. “Manufactured home”
includes any structure that meets all the requirements of this paragraph except the
size requirements and with respect to which the manufacturer voluntarily files a
certification and complies with the standards established under the National
Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C., Sec. 5401,
and following).

(b)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a codified provision of state
law uses the term “manufactured home,” and it clearly appears from the context that
the term “manufactured home” should apply only to manufactured homes, as defined
under subdivision (a), the codified provision shall apply only to those manufactured
homes. If any codified provision of state law, by its context, requires that the term
applies to manufactured homes or mobilehomes without regard to the date of
construction, the codified provision shall apply to both manufactured homes, as defined
under subdivision (a), and mobilehomes as defined under Section 18008.

(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 540, Sec. 4.  Effective January 1, 2008.)

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUTHENTICATED 
ELECTRONIC LEGAL MATERIAL

8.A.3

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 S
af

et
y 

C
o

d
e 

18
00

7 
- 

M
an

u
fa

ct
u

re
d

 H
o

m
es

 -
 0

1.
01

.2
00

8 
 (

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
N

ew
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 f
o

r 
A

cc
es

so
ry

 D
w

el
lin

g
 U

n
it

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  Capitola Police Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider a New Photo Traffic Enforcement Contract  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Enter into a five-year contract with Verra Mobility, formerly 
American Traffic Solutions, for red light photo enforcement services and authorize the City 
Manager or designee to sign the agreement.  
 
BACKGROUND: Since 2005, the City of Capitola has been using a red-light photo enforcement 

system to monitor all southbound vehicular traffic at the intersections of 41st Avenue and Clares 

Street and 41st Avenue and the Capitola Mall entrance. The system is operated by American 

Traffic Solutions doing business as Verra Mobility.  

The original contractual period was five years with an option for a two-year extension. In 2012 

Council authorized a second five-year contract with a two-year extension granted by Council on 

August 24, 2017. That contract expired on December 6, 2019. On December 31, 2019, staff 

negotiated a 90-day extension of the contract to provide time to review and consider the 

proposed new contract with Verra Mobility (see Attachment 1).  

  

DISCUSSION: For several decades, traffic safety has been identified as a community and City 

priority. The photo enforcement program was implemented at the above intersections to 

improve traffic safety, reduce traffic collisions related to red-light violations, increase driver 

awareness, and change driving behavior. The enforcement program has operated effectively for 

the past 15 years, and data collected during that time provides a historical perspective on the 

functionality and safety benefits of the program. 

Accident data collected for 2005 revealed significant concern associated with the 41st Avenue 

corridor between the freeway and Brommer Street due to 66 vehicular accidents, several known 

to be the result of motorists’ failure to stop at the red light. As a result, Council authorized staff 

to enter into a contract with American Traffic Solutions for the establishment of photo 

enforcement at 41st and Clares and the intersection of 41st and the Mall Entrance. Since 

inception, traffic accidents throughout the 41st Avenue corridor have decreased. Specifically, 

since 2005,  

• The intersection of 41st and Clares has seen a 60 percent decrease in accidents; 

• 41st and the Mall entrance has seen an 89 percent decrease in accidents; and  

• Accidents have decreased by 79 percent throughout the 41st Ave. corridor (see 

Attachment 2).  

8.B

Packet Pg. 68



Photo Enforcement Contract  
January 23, 2020 
 
Based upon the analysis of collision data collected during the 15 years of implementation, staff 
believes that motorist driving behavior has changed resulting in a large percentage of the driving 
population complying with the law. As an example, over the last five-year period (2014-2018) 
the number of photographs taken of potential offenders (“events captured”) has decreased 
consistently from a high of 8,725 in 2014 to 5,943 in 2018. The overall recidivism rate is only 3 
percent, meaning 97 percent of all violators who receive a citation do not commit a second 
violation. This low rate of recidivism is a clear signal of the positive change in driver behavior, 
and a strong indicator of the success of the program. It is worth noting that the “traffic volume” at 
this intersection has either remained consistent, or more likely, increased during this same 
period.  
 
Red-light photo enforcement in conjunction with other enforcement efforts and traffic safety 
measures, such as raised center medians, the placement of dot bots, and the “No Right Turn on 
Red” restrictions, have reduced the number of collisions and enhanced safety in the busiest 
corridor in the City of Capitola.  
 
Staff is recommending a sole-source purchasing contract due to the following considerations: a 
second source would require the removal and replacement of expensive equipment and 
subsequent survey/analysis of the roadways. The City would incur unnecessary costs to remove 
the current equipment, while the proposed new contract includes upgrades at no cost to the 
City. The proposed “purchase price” is substantially the same as the two previous contracts with 
American Traffic Solutions (ATS). Lastly, the City has enjoyed a good partnership with ATS for 
the past 14 years.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The cost for the system is a $5,100 fixed fee per month per camera system, 

resulting in a cost of $10,200 for both intersections. The proposed contract stipulates that if the 

City does not collect fines totaling $10,200 per month for red-light violations at the monitored 

intersections, the City only pays the vendor the amount collected. Please refer to page 3 section 

4.5 - Flexible Payment Plan for specific language related to this contractual stipulation. Red-light 

violations at photo enforced intersections in Capitola have never exceeded $10,200 per month 

since the inception of the program. As a result, the program is essentially cost neutral to the 

City. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Draft red-light camera contract 
2. Photo Enforcement Collision Data 

 
Report Prepared By:   Terry McManus 
 Police Chief 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.B

Packet Pg. 69



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Professional Services Agreement includes the attached Exhibits (“Agreement”) and is made by and 
between American Traffic Solutions, Inc., doing business as Verra Mobility, (“Verra Mobility”) and the City 
of Capitola, California (“Customer”).  
 
 WHEREAS, Customer desires to implement a photo enforcement program to enforce traffic 
violations (the “Program”) in accordance with state and local laws; 
 
 WHEREAS, Verra Mobility has the exclusive possession and ownership of the AxsisTM System, 
including certain knowledge, equipment, licenses, and the processes for processing Violations;  

 
WHEREAS, Customer selected Verra Mobility to provide services to implement and carry on the 

Customer's Program;  
 

WHEREAS, Customer desires to use the Camera Systems together with the Axsis System to 
monitor and enforce traffic Violations and to issue Citations for traffic Violations as part of its Program; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby 
admitted and acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 

By signing below, the parties agree to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Each individual 
signing below represents that such individual has the requisite authority to execute this Agreement on behalf 
of the entity which such individual represents and that all the necessary formalities have been met. 
 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY: 
 
AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC.  CITY OF CAPITOLA, CALIFORNIA 
 
 
 
By: 

   
 
 
By: 

 

 Garrett Miller 
Executive Vice President 
Government Solutions 

Date   Name: 
Title:    

Date 

   ATTEST: 
    

 
 
By: 

 
 

 
 

   Name: 
Title:    

Date 

 
 
This Agreement is effective on the date of execution by the last signatory to this cover page (“Effective 
Date”). 
  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 22 

            

I. DEFINITIONS 

 
As used in this Agreement, the following words and terms shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have 
the respective meanings provided below: 

 
“Approach”: One (1) direction of travel on a road or a traffic intersection, including up to four (4) 
contiguous lanes controlled by up to two (2) signal phases. 
 
“Axsis” or “Axsis System”:  The proprietary back-end system that processes violations, including the 
printing and mailing of Citations, the generation of evidence packages, and that provides system generated 
reports of Violation counts. 

 
“Business Hours”:  Eight (8) hours per day, Monday through Friday, excluding weekends and holidays. 
 
“Business Rules”:  The Business Rules Questionnaire to be completed by Customer and delivered to Verra 
Mobility setting forth the business rules for the implementation and operation of the Program. 

 
“Camera System” or “Camera”:  A photo-traffic monitoring device consisting of one (1) rear camera, one 
(1) front camera, strobe, and traffic monitoring device (including the wiring associated with each) capable of 
accurately detecting a Violation on up to four (4) contiguous lanes which records such data with two (2) or 
more images of such vehicle. “Camera System”, where the context requires, also include any enclosure or 
cabinet, wiring, and related appurtenances in which the equipment is stationed.  

 
“Change Order Notice”:  Written notice from Customer requesting changes to the work required to be 
performed or the addition of products or services to those required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, 
setting forth in reasonable detail the proposed changes. 

 
“Change Order Proposal”:  A written statement from Verra Mobility describing the cost of the changes to 
the work or addition of products or services requested by Customer in a Change Order Notice. 

 
“Citation”:  A citation or notice of violation or equivalent instrument issued by a competent state, county or 
municipal law enforcement agent or agency or by a court of competent jurisdiction relating to a Violation 
documented or evidenced in Axsis. 

 
 “Event”:  A potential Violation captured by the Camera System. 

 
“Fees”:  The amount payable by Customer to Verra Mobility for equipment, services, and maintenance as set 
forth in EXHIBIT A. 
 
“Infrastructure”:  The poles, foundation, conduit, and other below-grade infrastructure required for System 
or any other equipment to be operational. 
 
“Notice to Proceed”:  Written confirmation from Customer that Verra Mobility may proceed with the 
installation of a given Camera System, a form of which is attached as EXHIBIT C. 
 
“Owner”:  The owner(s) of a motor vehicle as shown by the motor vehicle registration records of the motor 
vehicle department or the analogous agency of another state or country, including a lessee of a motor vehicle 
under a lease of six months or longer.  
 
“Person” or “Persons”:  Any individual, partnership, joint venture, corporation, limited liability company, 
trust, unincorporated association, governmental authority or political subdivision thereof or any other form 
of entity. 
 
“Project Time Line”:  The initial schedule and timelines required to begin the implementation of 
Customer’s project, as mutually agreed upon by the parties. 
“Red Light Safety Camera System”: A Camera System, which is capable of capturing red light Violations, 
installed at an intersection Approach. 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 22 

            

 
“System”:  A Camera System and the related Infrastructure. 

 
“Violation”:  A failure to obey an applicable traffic law or regulation, including, without limitation, failure to 
obey a traffic signal. 

II. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. Verra Mobility AGREES TO PROVIDE:  
 
The scope of work identified in EXHIBIT B, Section 1. 

2. CUSTOMER AGREES TO PROVIDE: 
 
The scope of work identified in EXHIBIT B, Section 2. 

3. TERM: 
 

This Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date and shall continue for a term of five (5) years.  
This Agreement will automatically extend for five (5) consecutive one (1) year terms. However, Customer 
or Verra Mobility may terminate this Agreement at the expiration of any term by providing written notice 
of its intent not to extend the Agreement one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of the 
then-current term.   

4. FEES AND PAYMENT: 
 

4.1 Customer shall pay for all equipment, services and maintenance based on the fee schedule indicated 
in EXHIBIT A, Service Fee Schedule 1. 
 

4.2 Invoices shall be in standard Verra Mobility format. 
 

4.3 The Customer shall pay all Fees due Verra Mobility based upon invoices received from Verra 
Mobility, which will be reconciled by the Police Department staff, working with Verra Mobility 
accounting staff and verified by the Customer’s Finance Department.  Police and Customer Finance 
Department staff will utilize Santa Cruz County Red Light Photo Enforcement Fine Collection data 
and distribution reports provided to the Customer by the County for each billing period. Customer 
shall pay all Fees due Verra Mobility within thirty (30) days from the billing period date when Santa 
Cruz County Red Light Photo Enforcement Fine Collection data is made available, or at least twice 
per year.  Late payments are subject to interest calculated at 1.5% per month on open balances. 
 

4.4 Verra Mobility’s Fees will be fixed for the first five (5) years of this Agreement; thereafter, unit prices 
will increase annually by the Consumer Price Index (CPI), according to the average change during the 
prior twelve (12) months in the CPI for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for U.S. Customer average, as 
published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor for the Services category 
listed under Commodity and Service Group. 
 

4.5 Flexible Payment Plan: 
 

During the term of the Agreement, payments by the Customer may be made to Verra Mobility under 
a Flexible Payment Plan if the total funds collected by the Program are insufficient to cover the Fees 
due Verra Mobility.  Under the Flexible Payment Plan, the Customer may defer certain payments due 
and owing to Verra Mobility during the term of the Agreement. If at the end of the term sufficient 
funds have not been collected by the Customer to pay the accrued balance then due to Verra 
Mobility, Verra Mobility agrees to waive its right to recovery with respect to any balance owing to 
Verra Mobility at the end of that term. 

 
This Flexible Payment Plan will be applied as follows:  Verra Mobility will maintain an accounting of 
any net balances owed Verra Mobility each month during the term.  If the total amount of funds 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 22 

            

collected from all Camera Systems combined during a month exceeds the amount of the Verra 
Mobility invoice for the same month, the Customer shall pay Verra Mobility the total amount due on 
the invoice.  If the total amount of funds collected from all Camera Systems combined during a 
month is less than the amount of the Verra Mobility invoice for the same month, the Customer shall 
pay Verra Mobility only the amount collected during the same month and Customer may defer 
payment of the remaining balance.  If opting to use a Flexible Payment Plan, Customer will provide 
Verra Mobility with sufficient information about payments received directly by the Customer or by 
the Courts to accurately determine the amount of funds collected.  Payments due Verra Mobility will 
be reconciled by applying funds collected in subsequent months, first to the accrued balance and 
then to the subsequent monthly invoice.  If at any time the Verra Mobility invoices, including any 
accrued balance are fully repaid, Customer will retain all additional funds collected.  Any funds in 
excess of the total balance due (whether reserved in cash or not by Customer) will be available to 
offset future Verra Mobility invoices during the term of the Agreement.  Customer agrees and 
understands the Flexible Payment Plan shall be applied in the aggregate across all installed Camera 
Systems and will not be applied on a per camera basis or on a per month basis. 

 
Example:   Fee of $4,400 per Camera System per month and four (4) cameras installed.  If during 
Month 1 camera #1 revenue is $5,000, camera #2 revenue is $3,500, camera #3 revenue is $6,000 
and camera #4 revenue is $3,000, the total revenue from the cameras for the month is $17,500.  
Verra Mobility would invoice Customer for $17,600 ($4,400 x 4 Camera Systems).  However, 
Customer would only be required to pay $17,500 in Month 1 and the $100 deficit would carry over to 
subsequent months.  If in Month 2 the combined revenue from the 4 cameras was $20,000, Verra 
Mobility would invoice the Customer $17,700 (i.e., the $100 deficit from the prior month plus the 
$17,600 monthly fee for the 4 Camera Systems).  The Customer is not responsible for any previously 
deferred balance remaining at the end of the term of the Agreement. 

 
4.6   Flexible Payment Plan – Limitations. This provision shall not apply if: (1) Customer elects not to 

enforce all legally enforceable Violations; (2) Customer elects not to pursue collections on unpaid 
Violations when contractually obligated to do so; (3) Customer directs Verra Mobility to install a 
camera at a site where violation rates are projected by Verra Mobility to be below the rate required by 
Verra Mobility for an acceptable installation; (4) Customer waives and/or fails to timely process 
more than ten percent (10%) of valid Violations forwarded to the Police for acceptance according to 
the Business Rules defined by the Customer prior to the start of the program; or (5) Customer does 
not provide Verra Mobility with access to an accurate accounting of all payments received other than 
directly by Verra Mobility.  

 
4.7. Payments by Customer – Customer will deduct from all payments to Verra Mobility all reasonable 

costs of upgrades to the System, overtime charges accrued by Capitola Police Department employees 
related to citation review, issuance, and court appearances related to use of Verra Mobility products. 

 
5. COMMUNICATION OF INFORMATION: 

 
Verra Mobility will comply with reasonable requests from Customer for information obtained by Verra 
Mobility through operation of the Axsis System.  Verra Mobility reserves the right to assess a fee for such 
services.  Unless Verra Mobility is deemed a “Custodian of Record”, under any applicable law regarding 
disclosure of records or similar laws, Verra Mobility will not be under any obligation to provide information 
directly to non-Customer requesting parties.  Should Verra Mobility choose to respond to non-Customer 
requesting parties, Verra Mobility and Customer shall work collaboratively in a good faith effort to provide 
requested information in a timely manner, which good faith effort may include, but not be limited to, 
Customer’s review and prior approval of Verra Mobility disclosing information.  

6. CONFIDENTIALITY: 
 

No information given by Verra Mobility to Customer will be of a confidential nature, unless specifically 
designated in writing as proprietary or confidential by Verra Mobility (“Verra Mobility Confidential 
Information”). If, however, Verra Mobility does designate certain information as proprietary or 
confidential, Customer shall treat the Verra Mobility Confidential Information with the same degree of care 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 5 of 22 

            

and same restrictions as Customer treats its own proprietary and confidential information, but in no event 
with less than reasonable care and reasonable restrictions. Customer will use Verra Mobility Confidential 
Information solely in connection with its rights and obligations under this Agreement, and will not use 
Verra Mobility Confidential Information for any other purpose, including but not limited to any use to 
harm or injure Verra Mobility or in any other way detrimental to Verra Mobility. If Customer receives a 
request or becomes legally obligated or compelled (by deposition, interrogatory, request for documents, 
subpoena, civil investigative demand, other demand or request by a governmental agency, or the application 
of statutes, rules or regulations) to disclose any of the Verra Mobility Confidential Information, Customer 
will promptly provide Verra Mobility with written notice of such request or requirement before any 
disclosure, and will cooperate with Verra Mobility’s reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment of 
the Verra Mobility Confidential Information.  If a protective order or other confidential treatment is not 
obtained or if Verra Mobility waives its rights under this paragraph, Customer agrees to furnish only so 
much of the Verra Mobility Confidential Information as it is legally required to furnish and, where 
appropriate, to exercise its best efforts to obtain written assurances that confidential treatment will be 
accorded to the Verra Mobility Confidential Information.  Customer will give Verra Mobility an 
opportunity to review the Verra Mobility Confidential Information prior to its disclosure, and Customer 
will allow Verra Mobility to participate in any related proceeding.  Nothing in this paragraph shall be 
construed contrary to the terms and provisions of any applicable law regarding disclosure of records or 
similar laws, insofar as they may be applicable.  

7. OWNERSHIP OF SYSTEM: 
 
Under all circumstances, Verra Mobility shall retain ownership of all Camera Systems and the Axsis System 
provided for use by the Customer under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  In order to carry out 
the purposes of this Agreement, for the term of this Agreement, Verra Mobility grants Customer a non-
exclusive, non-transferable license to use the Axsis System.  Verra Mobility shall retain the ownership rights 
to all meta-data, business intelligence, or other analytics obtained, gathered, or mined by Verra Mobility 
from the program data.   On and as of the date of termination, Customer shall be deemed to accept and 
receive full ownership and control of the Infrastructure.    Notwithstanding the Customer’s ownership of 
the Infrastructure, any costs of upgrading the Infrastructure and any other Verra Mobility equipment shall 
either be paid by Verra Mobility directly or initially paid by the City, and then deducted from the City’s 
payments to Verra Mobility, such that Verra Mobility bears all costs of upgrading Infrastructure and any 
other Verra Mobility equipment.  Such upgrades shall take place at a time determined by Verra Mobility but 
not later than the expiration of the Term of this Agreement. 

8. INDEMNIFICATION AND LIABILITY: 
 

8.1 Indemnification by Verra Mobility. Verra Mobility agrees to indemnify Customer and its managers, 
officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives and successors (individually, a “Customer 
Party” and collectively, the “Customer Parties”) against all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, 
penalties and judgments (collectively, “Losses”), which may be imposed on or incurred by any 
Customer Party arising out of or related to the negligence of, willful misconduct of, or material 
breach of this Agreement by Verra Mobility, its employees or agents which result in death or bodily 
injury to any natural person (including third parties) or any damage to any real or tangible personal 
property (including the personal property of third parties), except (i) to the extent caused by the 
negligence of, willful misconduct of, or material breach of this Agreement by any Customer Party or 
(ii) any claim, action or demand (a ”Claim”) caused by Customer's failure to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement. 

 
8.2 Indemnification by Customer. Customer hereby agrees to indemnify Verra Mobility and its affiliates, 

shareholders or other interest holders, managers, officers, directors, employees, agents, 
representatives and successors, permitted assignees and all Persons acting by, through, under or in 
concert with them (individually, an “Verra Mobility Party” and collectively, the “Verra Mobility 
Parties”) against any and all Losses which may be imposed on or incurred by any Verra Mobility 
Party arising out of or related to the negligence of, willful misconduct of, or material breach of this 
Agreement by the Customer, its employees, contractors or agents that result in death or bodily injury 
to any natural person (including third parties) or any damage to any real or tangible personal property 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 6 of 22 

            

(including the personal property of third parties) except (a) to the extent caused by the negligence of, 
willful misconduct of, or material breach of this Agreement by any Verra Mobility Party or (b) any 
Claim caused by Verra Mobility's failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement.  Upon the 
termination of this Agreement, Customer agrees to indemnify Verra Mobility Parties against any and 
all Losses which may be imposed on or incurred by any Verra Mobility Party arising out of or related 
to any Claim related to the poles, foundation, conduit, and other below-grade infrastructure 
(“Infrastructure”). 

 
8.3 Indemnification Procedures. In the event of any Claim in respect of which any party hereto seeks 

indemnification from the other, the party seeking indemnification (the "Indemnified Party") shall 
give the party from whom indemnification is sought (the "Indemnifying Party") written notice of 
such Claim promptly after the Indemnified Party first becomes aware thereof; provided, however, 
that failure to give such notice shall not preclude indemnification with respect to such Claim except 
to the extent of any additional or increased Losses or other actual prejudice directly caused by such 
failure. The Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in the defense or 
settlement of any Claim and no party shall have the right to enter into any settlement agreement that 
materially affects the other party's material rights or material interests without such party's prior 
written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

 
8.4 Limited Liability. In no event shall Verra Mobility’s liability under this Agreement exceed the average 

of the prior twelve (12) months of Fees paid by Customer pursuant to this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, neither party shall be liable to the other, 
by reason of any representation or express or implied warranty, condition or other term or any duty 
at common or civil law, for any indirect, incidental, special, lost profits or consequential damages, 
however caused and on any theory of liability, arising out of or relating to this Agreement.  

9. INSURANCE: 
 
Verra Mobility shall maintain the following minimum scope and limits of insurance: 
 

9.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance including coverage for bodily injury, property damage, 
premises and operations, products/completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and 
contractual liability with a combined single limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

 
9.2  Workers’ Compensation as required by applicable state law, and Employer’s Liability Insurance with 

limits of not less than $500,000 each accident. Verra Mobility shall at all times maintain Worker’s 
Compensation insurance coverage in the amounts required by law, but shall not be required to 
provide such coverage for any actual or statutory employee of Customer.  

 
9.3 Comprehensive Business Automobile Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned and hired 

automobiles and other vehicles used by Verra Mobility with a minimum $1,000,000 per occurrence 
combined single limit bodily injury and property damage. 

 
9.4 Customer shall be named as additional insured on the comprehensive general liability policies 

provided by Verra Mobility under this Agreement.  
 
9.5 Certificates showing Verra Mobility is carrying the above described insurance, and evidencing the 

additional insured status specified above, shall be furnished to Customer within thirty (30) calendar 
days after the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 
9.6 Customer shall be responsible for vehicle insurance coverage for the vehicle and all installed 

equipment, on any vehicles driven by Customer employees or contractors.  Coverage will include 
liability and collision damage and shall provide 100% coverage.  Additionally, Customer shall 
maintain: Worker’s Compensation coverage as required by applicable state law; Employer’s Liability 
Insurance; and Commercial General Liability insurance including coverage for bodily injury, property 
damage, premises and operations, products/completed operations, personal and advertising injury, 
and contractual liability.  Customer will provide certificates of insurance, listing Verra Mobility as 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 7 of 22 

            

additional insured.  If Customer fails to meet the above insurance requirements, Verra Mobility 
reserves the right to procure such insurance and bill the Customer. 

10. LIMITED WARRANTY: 

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, VERRA MOBILITY MAKES NO 
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
THE WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR PARTICULAR PURPOSE, 
WITH RESPECT TO THE CAMERA SYSTEMS, THE COMMUNICATIONS DEVICES, THE AXSIS 
SYSTEM, OR ANY RELATED EQUIPMENT OR SOFTWARE, OR WITH RESPECT TO THE 
RESULTS OF THE PROGRAM.  THE CUSTOMER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT AT TIMES SUCH 
SYSTEMS AND RELATED EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE MAY MALFUNCTION OR 
OTHERWISE NOT OPERATE AS ANTICIPATED. VERRA MOBILITY SHALL DILIGENTLY 
ENDEAVOR TO CORRECT ANY SUCH MALFUNCTION IN A TIMELY MANNER. 

11. STATE LAW TO APPLY: 
 

This Agreement shall be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

12. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: 
 

12.1 All disputes arising out of or in connection with the Agreement shall be attempted to be settled 
through good-faith efforts between senior management of both parties.  Following thirty (30) days of 
unsuccessful negotiation, the parties shall participate in professionally-assisted mediation, with a 
mediator acceptable to both parties.  The parties agree to discuss their differences in good faith and 
to attempt, with the assistance of the mediator, to reach an amicable resolution of the dispute.  The 
mediation will be treated as a settlement discussion and therefore will be confidential.  The mediator 
may not testify for either party in any later proceeding relating to the dispute.  No recording or 
transcript shall be made of the mediation proceedings.  Each party will bear its own costs in the 
mediation. The fees and expenses of the mediator will be shared equally by the parties. 
 

12.2 Failing resolution through negotiation or mediation, any remaining dispute shall be submitted to 
binding arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Rules for Professional Accounting and Related 
Services Disputes of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA Rules”) before a single arbitrator.  
The place of arbitration will be mutually agreed upon within fourteen (14) days of a decision to seek 
arbitration.  Limited discovery will be permitted in connection with the arbitration upon agreement 
of the parties and upon a showing of substantial need by the party seeking discovery. 

 
12.3 The arbitrator’s decision shall follow the plain and natural meaning of the relevant documents and 

shall be final and binding.  The arbitrator will have no power to award: 
 

a) damages inconsistent with the Agreement; or, 
 

b) punitive damages or any other damages not measured by the prevailing party’s actual damages, 
and the parties expressly waive their right to obtain such damages in arbitration or in any other 
forum.  

 
12.4 All aspects of the arbitration will be confidential.  Neither the parties nor the arbitrator may disclose 

the existence, content or results of the arbitration, except as may be necessary to comply with legal or 
regulatory requirements. 

 
12.5 Each party will promptly pay its share of all arbitration fees and costs, provided that such fees and 

costs shall be recoverable by the prevailing party as determined by the arbitrator.  If a party fails to 
pay such share promptly upon demand, the arbitrator shall, upon written request by the other party, 
enter a final and binding decision against the nonpaying party for the full amount of such share, 
together with an award of attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by the other party in obtaining such 
decision, which decision may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.  Except for the 
failure of a party to pay arbitration fees and costs that requires resort to the arbitrator to order such 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 8 of 22 

            

payment, the parties will bear their own attorneys’ fees in any matter or dispute under this 
Agreement.  

13. CHANGE ORDERS: 
 

Customer may request the addition of any products or services that Verra Mobility provides or other 
changes to the scope of work to be performed under this Agreement by providing a Change Order Notice 
to Verra Mobility.  Upon Verra Mobility’s receipt of the Change Order Notice, Verra Mobility shall deliver 
to Customer a Change Order Proposal.  Following Customer’s receipt of the Change Order Proposal, the 
parties shall negotiate in good faith regarding a plan and schedule for implementation of the proposed 
changes; the time, manner and amount of payment or price and any other matters relating to the proposed 
changes.  Any Change Order Proposal mutually agreed to by the parties in writing shall be incorporated as 
an addendum to this Agreement. 

14. TERMINATION: 
 

14.1 Verra Mobility’s services may be terminated:  
 

(i) By mutual written consent of the parties; or 
 

(ii) For material breach of this Agreement by either party, where the other party fails in any material 
way to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 
  

a) Where Customer is in breach of this Agreement for non-payment of Fees 
to Verra Mobility, Verra Mobility may exercise any or all of the following 
remedies: (1) provide Customer written notice and ten (10) days to cure 
before suspending performance and turning off the Camera Systems; (2) 
terminate this Agreement for cause where Customer’s account remains 
delinquent sixty (60) days after written notice; and (3) in addition to the 
foregoing, seek any other available remedies at law or equity.   
 

b) Termination under this Subsection 15.1(ii) for any reason other than non-
payment of Fees by Customer is subject to the condition that the 
terminating party notifies the other party of its intent to terminate, stating 
with reasonable specificity the grounds therefore, and the other party fails 
to cure the default within forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice.   

 
(iii) Customer may unilaterally terminate this Agreement without cause after providing forty-five (45) 

days written notice to Verra Mobility.  In the event the City terminates pursuant to this 
provision, Customer shall pay Verra Mobility an early termination fee in the amount of $165,000. 
 

(iv) In the event of termination by Verra Mobility under Subsection 15.1(ii) for breach by Customer 
(including non-payment of Fees), Customer shall pay Verra Mobility an early termination fee 
based on a price of a $165,000 Red Light Safety Camera System amortized over sixty (60) 
months on a straight-line basis.  The amortization schedule for said costs shall be reduced 
proportionally for each month each Camera System is installed.  This subsection shall only apply 
to Camera Systems installed after the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 
(v) Customer recognizes the substantial upfront costs Verra Mobility will incur to install Camera 

Systems.  Customer therefore agrees that any Camera Systems that Customer authorizes through 
a Notice to Proceed shall remain installed and operational for the duration of the term, unless 
otherwise mutually agreed.  Verra Mobility will bill a restocking or standby fee for any upfront 
costs associated with the Camera System(s) or other equipment in the event Customer terminates 
or suspends a Notice to Proceed. 

 
14.2 Upon termination of this Agreement, including because it has reached the end of its term, the parties 

recognize that Customer will have to process Events in the “pipeline”.  Accordingly, the parties shall 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 9 of 22 

            

take the following actions and shall have the following obligations, which survive termination during 
the wind-down period:  

 
(i) Customer shall cease using the Axsis System to capture Events. 

 
(ii) Unless it is unlawful to do so, Verra Mobility will, for a period of ninety (90) days, continue to 

process all Events captured before termination and provide all services associated with 
processing in accordance with this Agreement and shall be entitled to a monthly fee per Camera 
System.  After such ninety (90) day period, Verra Mobility will terminate all use of the Axsis 
System for Customer’s Program and upon such termination, the Axsis System, including 
violationinfo.com website, and related lockbox shall no longer be capable of accepting payments. 
  

(iii) Except as provided for in Section 15.2(iv) related to the Infrastructure, Customer shall return or 
allow Verra Mobility to recover all provided equipment within a reasonable time not to exceed 
ninety (90) days. 
  

(iv) Pursuant to Section 8, Customer shall be deemed to accept full ownership and control of the 
Infrastructure. Upon Customer’s request or if otherwise required by law, regulation, or 
administrative agency, and subject to the limitations set forth herein, Verra Mobility shall remove 
the Infrastructure Verra Mobility installed in connection with Verra Mobility’s performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement for the actual cost of the removal (presently estimated at 
approximately $5,000 per Approach) plus an additional 20% service fee (the “Removal Fee”).  As 
part of the services performed for the Removal Fee, Verra Mobility shall restore the surface of 
Customer’s property to substantially the same condition as such property was in immediately 
prior to this Agreement, except for foundation removal, which shall be left approximately flush 
with grade with no exposed bolts, or other hazards. Installed underground Infrastructure shall 
not be required to be removed, and Customer shall accept and observe any and all duties, 
obligations, or liabilities associated with the remaining foundation, conduit, or other below-grade 
Infrastructure. 
 

14.3 In the event of termination by Verra Mobility for non-payment of Fees by Customer, Verra Mobility 
shall cease processing Events as of the date of termination.   

15. LIMITED AGENCY: 
 

Customer hereby grants Verra Mobility the authority to act on its behalf as a limited agent of Customer 
solely for purposes of (i) access to DMV records; and (ii) generating and administratively processing 
recorded images of Events as described in this Agreement and the Business Rules.  Verra Mobility and its 
employees, contractors, agents and servants will in no event be considered to be employees, agents (other 
than in the limited capacity described herein), or servants of Customer.  This Agreement does not and shall 
not be interpreted as creating a general agency relationship between Verra Mobility and Customer. 

16. USE OF SUBCONTRACTORS: 
 

From time to time, Verra Mobility may subcontract certain services provided under this Agreement without 
notice to or consent of Customer.   

17. DATA RETENTION:  

Subject to litigation holds, court orders, changes in law, or other legal requirements applicable to Verra 
Mobility, Verra Mobility shall maintain the categories of data set forth under the heading “Type of Record” 
for the periods of time set forth under the heading “Minimum Verra Mobility Retention Period” on 
Exhibit E during the term of this Agreement.  Within one hundred-twenty (120) days of the later of the 
termination of this Agreement or the termination of any wind-down period, Verra Mobility shall place the 
Violation Images, Non-Violation Images, Individually Identifiable Violation Records, and Individually 
Identifiable Non-Violation Records (each as described on Exhibit E), not previously disposed of in 
accordance with the data retention schedule, at a secured location with SFTP access where Customer shall 
have ninety (90) days to retrieve and validate the information. After ninety (90) days, Verra Mobility shall 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 10 of 22 

            

delete all data from the SFTP location and shall have no further data retention obligations to Customer 
with respect to such data. 

 
18. FORCE MAJEURE: 

 
Neither party will be liable to the other or be deemed to be in breach of this Agreement for any failure or 
delay in rendering performance arising out of causes beyond its reasonable control and without its fault or 
negligence.  Such causes may include but are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, terrorism, 
significant fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, 
unusually severe weather, or governmental authorities approval delays which are not caused by any act or 
omission by the parties. The party whose performance is affected agrees to notify the other promptly of the 
existence and nature of any delay.  For the avoidance of doubt, road construction is not an event of Force 
Majeure. 

19. TAXES: 
 

At the time of execution of this Agreement, it is the understanding of the parties that Verra Mobility’s 
services provided hereunder may be subject to federal, state or local taxes including but not limited to 
excise, sales, use, property or similar taxes or charges.  Customer agrees to reimburse Verra Mobility for any 
such tax or charge if charged against Verra Mobility.  If incurred, such taxes or charges may be invoiced at 
any time.  
 

20. NOTICES: 
 

Any notices or demand which, under the terms of this Agreement or under any statute, that must or may be 
given or made by Verra Mobility or Customer shall be in writing and shall be given or made by personal 
service, first class mail, Federal Express, or by certified mail to the parties at the following addresses: 
 

City of Capitola     American Traffic Solutions, Inc. 
420 Capitola Avenue    1150 North Alma School Road  
Capitola, CA 95010    Mesa, Arizona 85201 
Attn:  Police Chief     Attn: Legal Department 

 

21. LEGAL CONSTRUCTION: 
 
In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be 
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect 
any other provision of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable provision had not been contained herein. This Agreement shall be enforced to the maximum 
extent possible so as to give effect to the intent of the parties and shall be reformed without further action by 
the parties to the extent necessary to make such provision valid and enforceable herein. 

22. AMENDMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT: 
 
Any changes, modifications or amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by both parties.   

23. INTEGRATION: 
 
This Agreement constitutes the sole and only agreement of the parties and supersedes any prior or 
contemporaneous understanding, written or oral, between the parties respecting its subject matter.   

24. SURVIVAL: 
 
The following provisions of the General Terms and Conditions shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement: Sections 4, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 14, 15, 17, 19, 22 and this Section 25.  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 11 of 22 

            

25. ADDITIONAL SERVICES: 
 
During the term of this Agreement, from time-to-time Verra Mobility may propose certain new technologies 
for Customer to consider and, if so desired, Customer may procure from Verra Mobility the new technologies 
through an amendment to this Agreement upon terms to be mutually agreed upon.   

26. PILOTS: 
 
From time to time, at the mutual agreement of the parties, Verra Mobility may pilot existing Verra Mobility 
products and services or products and services that are under development by Verra Mobility or its current or 
future subcontractors and vendors (each a “Vendor”).  During any pilot pursuant to this Section 27, 
registered owner information shall not be used and no Events will be issued as Citations and no mailing of 
warnings or Citations will occur.  Customer expressly acknowledges that Verra Mobility is under no 
obligation to retain for any period of time any data produced by any pilot systems. Verra Mobility may 
request Customer or its employees to provide feedback on the use, quality, viability, features, functionality, or 
desirability of pilot systems (“Customer Feedback”).  All data, drawings, plans, specifications, blueprints, 
studies, reports, memoranda, computation sheets, computer files and media or other documents prepared or 
generated by Verra Mobility or a Vendor or a pilot systems in connection with any pilot shall remain the 
property of Verra Mobility (the “Pilot Data”). To the extent that such Pilot Data is provided to Customer, 
Verra Mobility grants to Customer a limited, personal, nonsublicensable, nonexclusive license to use the Pilot 
Data, solely for evaluation and statistical purposes. Actual program performance may vary from pilot 
performance.  Customer acknowledges and agrees that the terms of this Agreement, except for Sections 6, 7, 8, 
11, 12, 16, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25 and this Section 27, shall not apply to any such pilot.   

27. EXECUTION:   
 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an 
original copy of this Agreement, and all of which, when taken together, shall be deemed to constitute one 
and the same Agreement.  The exchange of copies of this Agreement and of signature pages by facsimile or 
“.pdf” transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and 
may be used in lieu of the original Agreement for all purposes.  Signatures of the parties transmitted by 
facsimile or “.pdf” shall be deemed to be their original signatures for any purpose whatsoever. 

 
 
 

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 12 of 22 

            

EXHIBIT A 
SERVICE FEE SCHEDULE 

 
1.0 

 
Description of Pricing 
 
Fees are based on per camera and are as follows:  
 

Product Description 
 

Fee 
 

Red Light Safety Camera System – the parties shall mutually agree on the number 
of units to be installed.  

$5,100 Fixed Fee per 
Month per Camera 
System 
 
 

Subsequent Notices Mailing Fee – For any additional notices sent by First Class 
Mail required by the Customer or required by law in excess of the standard set of 
notices as described in subsection 1.2.3 of Exhibit B, Verra Mobility will charge the 
Customer a Subsequent Notices Mailing Fee. 

 
$2.00 per page per 

notice 

Video Retrieval Fee:  Verra Mobility shall retrieve up to one (1) video per week at 
no cost to Customer. Note: Customer shall have unlimited ability to self-retrieve 
video at no cost to Customer through the Enhanced Video Services.   

For all additional 
video retrievals, the 
fee is $10.00 each. 

Service Fees:  All service Fees per Camera System above includes all costs required and associated with a 
Camera System installation for monitoring up to 4 lanes and two signal phases, routine maintenance, and use of 
Axsis System for back-office operations.  Includes camera equipment for monitoring up to 4-lanes and up to 
two (2) signal phases, installation, maintenance, Event processing services, DMV records access, First Class 
mailing of Citations with return envelope, First Class mailing of second notice (as needed), lockbox and 
epayment processing (excluding user convenience fee, which is paid by payor), IVR call center support for 
general Program questions and public awareness Program support.  Any required certified mail is not included 
and the fee is extra and will be billed per unit as published by the US Postal Service. 

 

 

2.0 

 
Optional Collection Services:  
Verra Mobility may initiate collection efforts of delinquent notices upon written request by 
Customer, so long as collection of said recovered revenue amounts does not conflict with 
applicable state law.  Verra Mobility will be entitled to receive portions of the collected revenue as 
noted below.  For those accounts in default that go to collection, this is in addition to Verra 
Mobility Fees noted above.  

 
Delinquent Collections Services 30% of Recovered Revenue 

 
In the event that Customer elects to have Verra Mobility provide collections services, Customer 
shall so notify Verra Mobility in writing.  Customer agrees that, once Verra Mobility’s collections 
services are elected, Customer may not utilize another vendor for these collections services 
without prior written consent from Verra Mobility. 

  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 13 of 22 

            

EXHIBIT B 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 

1. VERRA MOBILITY SCOPE OF WORK 
 
1.1 VERRA MOBILITY IMPLEMENTATION 

 
1.1.1 Verra Mobility agrees to provide Camera System(s), use of the Axsis System and related 

services to Customer as outlined in this Agreement, excluding those items identified in 
Section 2 titled “Customer Scope of Work”.  Verra Mobility and Customer understand and 
agree that new or previously unforeseen requirements may, from time to time, be identified 
and that the parties shall negotiate in good faith to assign the proper party the responsibility 
and cost for such items.  In general, if work is to be performed by Customer, unless 
otherwise specified in writing, Customer shall not charge Verra Mobility for the cost.  
 

1.1.2 Customer and Verra Mobility will complete the Project Time Line within thirty (30) days of 
Agreement execution date, unless mutually agreed to otherwise by the parties. Verra Mobility 
agrees to make every effort to adhere to the Project Time Line. 
 

1.1.3 Prior to installing or deploying a Camera System, Verra Mobility may conduct a statistical 
analysis of each road or intersection Approach being considered for a Camera System or 
Camera Systems (“Site Selection Analysis”) to assist Customer in determining which road or 
Approaches will be the most beneficial to Customer in pursuit of its traffic safety and 
enforcement goals. Considerations may include collision history, community safety, police 
department staff review and engineering feasibility assessment. Camera System installations 
will be based on mutual agreement by Customer and Verra Mobility.  Verra Mobility makes 
no representations or warranties that any Violation rate estimates will be predictive of actual 
future traffic Violation rates. 
 

1.1.4 Verra Mobility will install Camera System(s) at a number of intersections to be mutually 
agreed upon between Verra Mobility and Customer after completion of Site Selection 
Analysis and reflected in a written Notice to Proceed.  Once installed the Camera Systems 
will be activated remotely without the need of any technicians or Customer staff being 
present.  In addition to any initial Designated Intersections the parties may mutually agree to 
add additional Camera System(s) or Approaches, which shall be reflected in a written Notice 
to Proceed.  

 
1.1.5 Verra Mobility’s Communications Department will assist Customer with public information 

content and outreach campaign strategies.  
 

1.1.6 Verra Mobility agrees to provide a secure website (www.violationinfo.com) accessible to 
Owners/violators who have received notices of violation by means of a Notice # and PIN, 
which will allow Violation image and video viewing.  As part of the secure website, a space 
will be provided for a Frequently Asked Questions (F.A.Q.) page approved by Customer. 
Verra Mobility will operate this secure website on a 24-hour basis, barring downtime for 
maintenance, normal servicing activities, or other unforeseen instances. 
 

1.1.7 Verra Mobility will provide technician site visits to each Camera System, as needed, to 
perform maintenance checks consisting of camera enclosure lens cleaning; camera, strobe 
and controller enclosure cleaning; inspection of exposed wires; and general system 
inspections and maintenance, including Infrastructure upgrades when necessary. 
 

1.1.8 Verra Mobility shall take commercially reasonable best efforts to repair a non-functional 
System within seventy-two (72) hours (excluding weekends and holidays) of determination 
of a malfunction.   
 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 14 of 22 

            

1.1.9 Verra Mobility is authorized to charge, collect and retain a service/convenience fee of $4.00 
for each payment processed through the web, call center, IVR, or other electronic means.  
Such fee is paid by the payor and retained by Verra Mobility. 

 
1.1.10 Verra Mobility will work with the Customer and its prior vendor in the data migration of the 

prior vendor’s records into the Axsis System.   
 

 

1.2 VERRA MOBILITY OPERATIONS 
 
1.2.1 Verra Mobility shall implement and operate the Program in accordance with the provisions 

of this Agreement and the Customer’s Business Rules. 
 

1.2.2 Verra Mobility shall provide Customer with a grace period of up to thirty (30) days in length, 
as determined by Verra Mobility, following the installation and activation of the first installed 
Camera System. Customer shall not be charged a fee during the grace period. 
 

1.2.3 Verra Mobility shall provide Customer with access to the Axsis System, including image 
processing, first notice printing and mailing of Citation per Violation and a mailing of a text 
only reminder notice, a hearing scheduled letter, a hearing denied letter, an insufficient 
information letter, and a dismiss letter.  In the case of a transfer of liability by the Owner, the 
Axsis System shall be setup to mail a Citation to the driver identified in the affidavit of non-
liability or by a rental car company. Costs of certified mailings are priced separately and paid 
by Customer to Verra Mobility as indicated in EXHIBIT A. 
 

1.2.4 Subsequent notices, other than those specified in Subsection 1.2.3 may be delivered by First 
Class or other mail means for additional compensation to Verra Mobility as agreed upon by 
the parties. 
 

1.2.5 Verra Mobility shall apply an electronic signature, name, or badge number to the Citation as 
authorized in the Customer’s Business Rules. 
 

1.2.6 Verra Mobility shall seek records from out-of-state vehicle registration databases and use 
such records to assist Customer in processing Citations. In its capacity as limited agent 
pursuant to the DMV Services Subscriber Authorization found in EXHIBIT D, Verra 
Mobility may seek records from out-of-state vehicle registration databases.  Verra Mobility 
may mail Citations to the address of the Owner obtained through the DMV, obtained 
through the National Change of Address (NCOA) database provided by the United States 
Postal Service, or obtained through other means including but not limited to skip tracing.   

 
1.2.7 The Axsis System shall provide Customer with the ability to run and print standard system 

reports. Verra Mobility provides a suite of standard program reporting at no charge to clients 
with active Programs.  Upon notice to Customer, Verra Mobility reserves the right to modify 
the suite of standard program reporting available to Customer, so long as such change 
applies generally to customers with similar programs.  Customized reporting services are 
available upon written request.  The fee for such services shall be mutually agreed upon.   
 

1.2.8 During the twelve (12) month period following the installation or deployment of the first 
Camera System, upon Verra Mobility’s receipt of a written request from Customer at least 
fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of a court proceeding, and if required by the court or 
prosecutor, Verra Mobility shall provide Customer with or train a local expert witness to 
testify in court on matters relating to the accuracy, technical operations, and effectiveness of 
the Camera System or the Axsis System until judicial notice is taken. Customer shall use its 
best efforts to obtain judicial notice as soon as possible.  If Verra Mobility expert witness is 
required more than two (2) times during the twelve (12) month period, Customer shall 
reimburse Verra Mobility for any reasonable time and travel costs incurred for the additional 
dates. 
 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 15 of 22 

            

1.2.9 In those instances where damage to a System (or sensors where applicable) is caused by (i) 
negligence on the part of Verra Mobility or its authorized agent(s), Verra Mobility shall bear 
the cost of repair or (ii) vandalism, negligence or recklessness on the part of a third-party, a 
driver or severe weather or other Force Majeure events, Verra Mobility and Customer shall 
bear the cost of repair equally with Customer reimbursing Verra Mobility for its portion of 
the cost of repair. For all other causes of damage, including road construction, Customer 
negligence, etc. Customer shall reimburse Verra Mobility for the cost of repair.  Verra 
Mobility shall bear costs associated with regular Infrastructure upgrades, as identified by 
Verra Mobility. 
 

1.2.10 Verra Mobility shall provide a help-line to assist Customer with resolving any problems 
encountered regarding its Camera System and/or the Axsis System. The help-line shall 
function during Business Hours. 
 

1.2.11 As part of the Axsis System, a website will be made available to allow alleged violators the 
ability to view their Citations online. This online viewing system shall include a link to the 
Verra Mobility payment website(s) and may offer the opportunity to download an affidavit 
of non-liability online. Online obtained affidavits, if approved by the court, may be directed 
to and processed by Verra Mobility processors and communicated to the court via the Axsis 
transfer described above.  

2. CUSTOMER SCOPE OF WORK 
 

2.1 GENERAL IMPLEMENTATION REQUIREMENTS 

2.1.1 Within seven (7) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Customer shall 
provide Verra Mobility with the name, title, mailing address, email address and phone 
number of: 

o A project manager with authority to coordinate Customer responsibilities under this 
Agreement; 

o Court manager responsible for oversight of all Court-related program requirements; 
o The police contact; 
o The court contact; 
o The person responsible for overseeing payments by violators (might be court); 
o The Prosecuting Attorney; 
o The Customer Attorney; 
o The finance contact (who receives the invoices and will be in charge of reconciliation); 
o The IT person for the police; 
o The IT person for the courts; 
o The public works and/or engineering contact responsible for issuing any/all permits for 

construction; and  
o Court manager responsible for oversight of all Court-related program requirements. 

2.1.2 Customer and Verra Mobility shall complete the Project Time Line within thirty (30) 
calendar days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, unless mutually agreed to otherwise 
by the parties. Customer shall make every effort to adhere to the Project Time Line. 
 

2.1.3 Verra Mobility to provide Customer with a mock-up of the Citation within fifteen (15) days 
of the Effective Date of this Agreement.  Customer shall provide a revised draft of the 
Citation in accordance with Customer’s local law and state law within fifteen (15) days of 
receipt of the mock-ups from Verra Mobility. 

2.1.4 Within seven (7) business days of receipt by Customer, Customer shall provide Verra 
Mobility completed forms for purposes of directing payments by payors and establishing a 
merchant identification number, if applicable, and such forms may include among others a 
financial information request form, participant agreement and merchant services agreement 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 16 of 22 

            

for the provision of electronic payment processing services by a payment processor, W-9, 
certification regarding beneficial ownership, and a bank verification letter prepared by 
Customer’s settlement bank. 

2.1.5 Customer grants Verra Mobility the right to make non-substantive formatting or incidental 
changes to the Citation form without approval by Customer. 

2.1.6 Customer shall direct the law enforcement agency to execute the Verra Mobility DMV 
Services Subscriber Authorization (substantially in the form attached as EXHIBIT D) to 
provide verification to the National Law Enforcement Telecommunications System 
(NLETS), State Department of Motor Vehicles, or appropriate authority indicating that 
Verra Mobility is acting on behalf of the Customer for the purposes of accessing vehicle 
ownership data pursuant to the list of permissible uses delineated in the Drivers Privacy 
Protection Act 18 U.S.C. 2721, Section (b)(1) and as may otherwise be provided or required 
by any provision of applicable state law.    

2.1.7 Customer shall prepare the Business Rules for implementation and operation of the 
Program. 
 

2.1.8 Customer is responsible for notifying Verra Mobility of any local legislative and/or 
ordinance changes in writing within forty-eight (48) hours of the first read of the proposed 
legislation. Verra Mobility will not be responsible for complying with any change in 
applicable local law, until such time as Verra Mobility has been notified by Customer in 
writing of the change in law.  
 

2.1.9 Customer is responsible for all final jurisdictional issues, including but not limited to as they 
pertain to issuance of Citations, adjudication of Violations, and intergovernmental 
authorities.   

 
2.1.10 Customer will comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, 

regulations and orders (collectively, “Laws”), including without limitation to the extent 
applicable Criminal Justice Information Services (CJIS) requirements, any Laws relating to 
data privacy, or any Laws applicable its conduct with respect to the Program. 

 
2.1.11 Once a Notice to Proceed is granted to Verra Mobility in writing, Customer shall not issue a 

stop work order to suspend activity on the implementation process, unless Customer 
reimburses Verra Mobility for costs incurred up to the date the stop work order is issued. 

 
2.1.12 Once a Camera System is installed and certified by Verra Mobility as operational, it shall be 

immediately put into service.   
 
2.1.13 Customer shall not use the Camera Systems or Axsis for any purpose not permitted by Law. 

2.1.14 Customer shall process each Event in accordance with state law and/or municipality 
ordinances within three (3) business days of its appearance in the law enforcement review 
queue, using Axsis to determine which Events constitute Violations that will be issued as 
Citations.  In the event that Customer fails to process Events within this timeframe, Verra 
Mobility shall not be liable for failure of the Axsis System to allow Customer to issue a 
notice or Citation within statutory timeframes. 

 
2.1.15 In the event that remote access to the Axsis System is blocked by Customer network security 

infrastructure, Customer’s Department of Information Technology shall coordinate with 
Verra Mobility to facilitate appropriate communications while maintaining required security 
measures. 

 
2.1.16 For any data migration where Customer wants its prior vendor’s records to be transferred to 

the Axsis System, or any other system provided by Verra Mobility, Customer shall require its 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 17 of 22 

            

prior vendor to provide such records in a format required by Verra Mobility.  Customer shall 
also require its prior vendor to work as efficiently and effectively as possible with Verra 
Mobility in any data migration project, and shall require its prior vendor to complete such 
data migration within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 
2.2 STREETS AND TRAFFIC DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS  

  
2.2.1 If Customer requests that Verra Mobility move a System to a new Approach after initial 

installation, Customer shall pay for the costs to relocate the System.  Customer may not 
request the relocation of a site within the first year after installation. This subsection 2.2.1 
only applies to fixed Systems, such as a Red Light Safety Camera System. 
 

2.2.2 If a construction or improvement project requires an installed Camera System to be 
deactivated or requires a Camera System, including imbedded sensors, to be moved or 
removed, Customer shall continue to pay the Fee and any costs for moving or removing the 
System.  

 
2.2.3 Prior to the installation of any System, Customer shall provide Verra Mobility information 

regarding any and all road construction or improvement projects scheduled during the term 
of this Agreement for any intersection Approach designated for System installation.  In 
addition, within thirty (30) days of becoming aware of anticipated construction that may 
result in the removal of a System or otherwise impact an Approach during the term of this 
Agreement, Customer shall notify Verra Mobility of any such construction. 
 

2.2.4 Customer will design, fabricate, install and maintain camera warning signs required by law 
for purposes of operating the Program.  If Customer cannot provide such signage, Verra 
Mobility will do so, and Customer shall reimburse Verra Mobility for such costs. 

 
2.2.5 Customer understands that proper operation of the System requires access to traffic signal 

phase connections. Customer, therefore, shall provide free access to traffic signal phase 
connections according to approved design. When traffic signal phase connections are not 
under the jurisdiction of Customer, it shall be Customer’s responsibility to negotiate 
agreements with the owner or maintaining agency of the traffic signal controller and 
infrastructure in order to provide the required access to said phase connections and 
infrastructure.   

 
2.2.6 Customer understands that proper operation of the System sometimes requires attachment 

of certain items of detection equipment to existing signal masts, mast arms and/or other 
street furniture.  Customer, therefore, shall provide free access to Verra Mobility to attach 
certain items of detection equipment to existing signal masts, mast arms and / or other street 
furniture for the proper operation of the System. 

 
2.2.7 Customer shall require its prior vendor to make all power sources, pull boxes and conduit 

available at each location to Verra Mobility at no charge.  Customer agrees to facilitate access 
to traffic signal phase connections to a pull box, pole base, or controller cabinet nearest to 
each System within Customer’s jurisdiction. Verra Mobility may agree to cover these upfront 
costs and bill Customer.  If the costs of accessing power or running conduit at any location 
is cost-prohibitive as determined by Verra Mobility, the parties shall in good faith look for an 
alternative location.  
 

2.2.8 Unless required by law, Customer shall not require Verra Mobility to provide installation 
drawings stamped by a licensed civil engineer. However, to the extent applicable, Verra 
Mobility work product and drawings shall be overseen and approved by a licensed 
professional engineer and such deliverables shall conform to applicable engineering norms 
and reflect the details of installation work to be completed. 
 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 18 of 22 

            

2.2.9 Customer shall approve or reject Verra Mobility submitted plans within seven (7) business 
days of receipt and shall limit iterations to a total of one revision beyond the initially 
submitted plans. Total plan approval duration shall not exceed ten (10) business days.  
Customer shall provide its best efforts in providing aid in achieving these timeframes for 
plan approvals when plans are being reviewed and permitted by any state, local, and/or 
county agencies. 
 

2.2.10 Customer, or any department of Customer, shall not charge Verra Mobility or its 
subcontractor(s) for building, construction, electrical, street use and/or pole attachment 
permits, including any fee for traffic control services and permits during installation or 
maintenance of a System.  Customer shall also apply for, when in Customer’s name, and 
fund any and all needed state, local, and/or county permits, including any traffic control 
permits. 
 

2.2.11 Customer understands and agrees that time is of the essence and that public safety is at issue 
and shall issue all needed permits to Verra Mobility and its subcontractor(s) within three (3) 
business days of plan approval.  Customer shall provide its best efforts to aid in achieving 
these timeframes for permit issuance when permitted by any state, local, and/or county 
agency. 
 

2.2.12 If required by the submitted design for proper operation, Customer shall allow Verra 
Mobility to install vehicle detection sensors in the pavement of roadways within Customer’s 
jurisdiction, as permitted.  Customer shall provide its best efforts to aid in acquiring any and 
all required permission and permits when the roadway is under the jurisdiction of the state 
or county. 
 

2.2.13 Customer shall allow Verra Mobility to build needed infrastructure into any existing 
Customer-owned easement. 
 

2.2.14 If use of private property right-of-way is needed, Customer shall assist Verra Mobility in 
acquiring permission to build in existing utility easements as necessary. Any costs for private 
property right-of-way lease/rental costs shall be borne by Customer as it is expressly 
excluded from the base fee structure identified in the fee schedule. 

 
2.2.15 Law enforcement officers shall comply with all laws related to the use of the Camera System, 

including performing procedures or following any processes required to ensure that the 
evidence captured by the Camera System is admissible in court.  

 
2.3  COURTS OPERATIONS 

 
2.3.1 Customer shall provide a judge or hearing officer and court facilities to schedule and hear 

disputed Citations.  Verra Mobility shall bear the overtime costs accrued by the Police 
Department related to citation review, citation issuance, and court appearances related to the 
citations. 
 

2.3.2 Customer shall handle inbound and outbound phone calls and correspondence from 
defendants who have questions about disputes and other issues relating to Citation 
adjudication. Customer may refer citizens with questions regarding the Camera System 
technology and processes to websites and/or toll free telephone numbers provided by Verra 
Mobility for that purpose. 

 
2.2.1 Verra Mobility shall provide one (1) online adjudication processing module, which will 

enable the adjudication function to review cases, related images, and other related 
information required to adjudicate the disputed Violation. If instead of online adjudication 
processing, Customer desires to integrate Verra Mobility data into its adjudication system, 
subject to feasibility, Verra Mobility shall provide a court interface.  Customer shall be 
responsible for the cost of development of any such interface.  The system will also enable 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 19 of 22 

            

the court staff to accept and account for payments.  Any costs charged by a third party 
vendor related to the provision of Verra Mobility data to the adjudication system are the 
responsibility of the Customer. 

  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 20 of 22 

            

EXHIBIT C 
FORM OF NOTICE TO PROCEED  

 
Reference is made to the Standard Professional Services Agreement by and between American Traffic 
Solutions, Inc., doing business as Verra Mobility (“Verra Mobility”) and the City of Capitola, California 
(“Customer”), dated as of __________[date] (the “Agreement”).  Capitalized terms used in this Notice to 
Proceed shall have the meaning given to such term in the Agreement. 
 
Customer hereby designates this [first] phase implementation of cameras at designated intersections. Verra 
Mobility shall make its best efforts to install a Camera System within thirty (30) days of permits being granted 
and power delivered for each agreed-upon Approach, providing that Customer has received permission for all 
implementations in writing from any third-party sources. 
 
Below is a list of Approaches provided by Customer, which have been analyzed based on traffic volumes, 
road geometry, and existing infrastructure and are believed to be locations at which a Camera System would 
increase public safety. 
 
Execution of this Notice to Proceed by Customer shall serve as authorization for the installation of Camera 
Systems for all Approaches designated as follows: 
 

1) _________________________________________________ 

2) _________________________________________________ 

 
Customer understands that implementation and installation of any Approach is subject to Site Selection 
Analysis and engineering results.  
 
Customer recognizes the substantial upfront costs Verra Mobility will incur to construct and install the 
Systems for the above listed intersection Approaches. Customer agrees that the Systems authorized by this 
Notice to Proceed for the above-listed Approaches shall remain installed and operational for the duration of 
the current term of the Agreement. Verra Mobility reserves the right to bill Customer for any upfront costs 
associated with the intersection approaches listed above in the event Customer elects to cancel or suspend the 
installation.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Customer has executed this Notice to Proceed as of the date written below. 
 
CITY OF CAPITOLA, CALIFORNIA  
 
 
 
By: 

   

 Name: 
Title: 

Date   

 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY: 
 
AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC.  
 
 
 
By: 

   

 Name: 
Title: 

 

Date   

 
 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 21 of 22 

            

EXHIBIT D 
DMV SERVICES SUBSCRIBER AUTHORIZATION 

Agency ORI: _____________ 
 

DATE 
 
NLETS 
1918 W. Whispering Wind Dr. 
Phoenix, AZ 85085 
 
Attn: Steven E. Correll, Executive Director 
Re: Authorization for American Traffic Solutions, Inc. to Perform MVD Inquiry 
 
Dear Mr. Correll: 
 
Please accept this letter of acknowledgement that an Agreement between the City of Capitola, California and 
American Traffic Solutions, Inc., doing business as Verra Mobility (“Verra Mobility”) regarding automated 
enforcement camera systems is, or will be, enacted and will be, or is, in force. As a requirement of and in 
performance of that Agreement between the City of Capitola, California and Verra Mobility, it will be necessary 
for Verra Mobility to access NLETS motor vehicle data.  
 
Please accept this letter as authorization from the Capitola Police Department for Verra Mobility to run motor 
vehicle inquiries. This authorization is and will be in effect until further notification from the City. 
 
This authorization will automatically expire upon the termination of the Agreement between the City of Capitola, 
California and Verra Mobility.  Such authorization is limited to violations detected by the automated enforcement 
camera systems.  By completing the information below and signing this letter, I am stating that I am a member of 
the Capitola Police Department and have the authority to empower Verra Mobility to use ORI AGENCY ORI for 
this function. 
 
 

SUBSCRIBER INFORMATION 
 

Subscriber Agency/Name  

 
NLETS Agency ORI  

 
Name/Title of Authorized 
Representative  

 
Mailing Address  

  

  

 
Telephone  Fax  

 
Email  

 
 
 
Signature of Authorized Representative 

 
 
 
 

 
Date Signed   

 

  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 22 of 22 

            

EXHIBIT E 
RETENTION SCHEDULE 

 

Type of Record Minimum Verra Mobility Retention Period*** 

Violation Images* (including video clips and related 
metadata) 

36 months from payment or final adjudication 
 

Non-Violation Images (including video clips and 
related metadata)** 

45 days from Event capture date 

Individually Identifiable Violation Records* 36 months from payment or final adjudication 

Individually Identifiable Non-Violation Records** 45 days from Event capture date 

Audio recording from contact center 90 days from call 

Written correspondence with citizens  regarding 
Violations (scanned electronic copy) 

1 year from date of correspondence or disposition 
of Violation 

Annual Camera System Calibration/Certification 
Records 

36 months from payment or final adjudication of an 
applicable Violation 

Maintenance Records 36 months from payment or final adjudication of an 
applicable Violation 

Other Program Records 36 months from termination of the Agreement. 

* Violation Image: an image of a Violation issued as a Citation. 
Individually Identifiable Violation Records: a record containing individually identifiable information 
pertaining to a Violation issued as a Citation. 
 

** Non-Violation Image: an image of an Event not issued as a Citation. 
Individually Identifiable Non-Violation Records: a record containing individually identifiable 
information pertaining to an Event not issued as a Citation. 
 

*** Retention period is not applicable upon termination of the Agreement and the data is provided to 
Customer pursuant to Section 17 of the Agreement.  

 
This records retention schedule does not apply to any Event data captured by the Camera System, 
but not uploaded into Axsis.  For the avoidance of doubt, this records retention schedule does not 
apply to any records related to any Pilot Data. 

 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 r
ed

-l
ig

h
t 

ca
m

er
a 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

h
o

to
 E

n
fo

rc
em

en
t 

C
o

lli
si

o
n

 D
at

a 
 (

P
h

o
to

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 2020 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Discuss Developing a Code of Conduct  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Form a City Council ad hoc subcommittee to work with staff to 
create a draft Code of Conduct policy for review by the full City Council. 
 
BACKGROUND: At the September 26, 2019, meeting, City Council directed staff to bring back 
options for a Code of Conduct for City Council Members and City commissioners/board 
members.  Staff, in conjunction with the City Attorney, has reviewed codes of conduct from 
other jurisdictions. Several example codes of conduct are attached to this report as background. 
 
DISCUSSION:  Examples of codes of conduct can vary from a single page to 25-plus page 
comprehensive documents.  All of the examples reviewed by staff outline core values and 
expectations.  More comprehensive codes include:  
 

1. Specific examples of how City officials are expected to interact with and use City 
resources  

2. Standards for communications with the public, boards and commissions, other 
governmental agencies, staff, and media  

3. Procedures to investigate violations and penalties  
 
While more comprehensive examples often appear drafted to address a wide range of potential 
situations, staff does not believe any single document of this type can address every possible 
future scenario.  Instead staff suggests a good code of conduct should provide a framework to 
guide how elected and appointed officials should conduct themselves, and a basic structure to 
adjudicate violations. 
 
The December 2019 issue of Western City included an article by Rod Gould, “Beyond Ethics: 
Establishing a Code of Conduct to Guide Your Council.”  This article includes a list of examples 
of typical elements for a code of conduct, specifically: 
 

• Demonstrate honesty and integrity in every action and statement; 

• Inspire public confidence in city government; 

• Work for the common good, not personal interest; 

• Respect the proper roles of elected officials and city staff in ensuring open and effective 
government; 

8.C

Packet Pg. 93



Consider Code of Conduct  
January 23, 2020 
 

• Disagree agreeably and professionally (use appropriate language, tone, nonverbal 
gestures, etc.); 

• Share information and avoid surprises; 

• Approach the business of governing in a professional manner — conduct business in a 
way that brings honor to the institution of government; 

• Praise in public, criticize in private; 

• Work together as a body, modeling teamwork and civility for the community; 

• Communicate through the city manager; 

• Prepare in advance of council meetings, be familiar with issues on the agenda and ask 
questions of the city manager before the meetings so everyone can be fully prepared 
when the meeting occurs; 

• Fully participate in city council meetings and other public forums while demonstrating 
respect, consideration and courtesy to others; 

• Participate in scheduled activities to increase council effectiveness; 

• Share information with other council members about committee meetings attended; 

• Work for win-win — strive for consensus and seek common ground; and 

• Honor “discussion” before “decisions” — delay making formal motions until initial 
discussions have taken place. 

 
The article also notes the Council’s determination about how it will enforce the code is just as 
important as the principles expressed in the document.  
 
As a first step in developing a code of conduct for Capitola, staff is seeking input about what 
process the Council would like to use to prepare a policy.  Options include:  
 

• Form a City Council ad hoc subcommittee to work with staff to prepare a draft Code of 
Conduct policy and bring it back for review by the entire Council; or 

• Schedule a special City Council meeting or workshop to formulate a Code of Conduct.  
Some jurisdictions bring in subject matter experts to guide this type of conversation, 
however staff does not believe this is necessary at this time; or 

• Give direction about whether Council envisions a high-level focused document (see Simi 
Valley and Healdsburg examples), a more comprehensive document that outlines more 
specific behavior expectations and methodologies for enforcement (see Brentwood 
example), or a hybrid approach, and direct to staff to return to Council with a draft Code 
of Conduct policy. 

 
The Code of Conduct can be approved as an ordinance, resolution, or policy. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Fiscal Impact will depend on the direction taken. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Healdsburg Code of Conduct (PDF) 
2. Brentwood Ethics and Conduct Policy (PDF) 
3. Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct (PDF) 

 
Report Prepared By:   Larry Laurent 
 Assistant to the City Manager 
 

8.C

Packet Pg. 94



Consider Code of Conduct  
January 23, 2020 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.C

Packet Pg. 95



-26-  

XIX. CONDUCT BY COUNCILMEMBERS, COMMISSIONERS AND COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS  

 
A. To increase public confidence in City government; assist Councilmembers, and 

Committee and Commission members with decision-making; and to encourage 
high standards of behavior by Councilmembers and Committee/Commission 
members the following Code of Conduct shall be followed by the City 
Councilmembers and Committees and Commissions of the City of Healdsburg: 

 
1. Council members are expected to read staff reports and supporting information 

in the agenda packets and get necessary clarification on issues prior to Council 
meetings. 

 
2. Study sessions are held to help educate the Council and allow staff to receive 

comments and direction to bring items back on a later agenda for possible 
action. 

 
3. In order to reach the best possible solutions, information is shared freely 

between Council members during Council meetings. 
 
4. Council members treat each other, the public, and staff with respect at all 

times. 
 
5. There is a respect for differing opinions. 
 
6. The Council will address the issue(s) before the body based on the merits and 

substance of the matter regardless of the person/group presenting those issues. 
 
7. The Council, overall, strives for consensus. 
 
8. There are individual interests and areas of expertise of Council members – 

allowing the Council to rely on one another for information and positive 
action. 

 
9. Council looks to boards, commissions, and committees for independent advice 

and possible legislative actions. 
 

B. Ethical Considerations 
 

1. Comply with the Law. Councilmembers and Board and Commission members 
shall comply with all applicable laws in the performance of their public duties. 

 
2. Conduct of Councilmembers, Board and Commission members.  The 

professional and personal conduct of members must be above reproach and 
avoid the appearance of impropriety.  While it is understood that 
Councilmembers, and Board and Commission members enjoy First 
Amendment rights, they should refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges 

8.C.1

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 H

ea
ld

sb
u

rg
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



-27-  

or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of other members of the 
Council, Boards, Commissions, staff, or the public that is intended to disrupt 
and not further the City’s business. 

 
3. Respect for Process.  Councilmembers, and Board and Commission members 

shall perform their duties in accordance with the processes and rules of order 
established by Council governing the deliberation of public policy issues, 
meaningful involvement of the public, and implementation of policy decisions 
of the Council by City staff. 

 
4. Decisions based on Merit. Councilmembers and Boards and Commission 

members shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at 
hand, rather than on unrelated considerations. 

 
5. Gifts and Favors.  Councilmembers and Board and Commission members shall 

follow the laws and regulations that apply to the acceptance of gifts or favors 
by a public official. 

 
6. Confidential Information.  Councilmembers and Board and Commission 

members shall respect the confidentiality of information concerning the 
property, personnel or legal affairs of the City.  They shall neither disclose 
confidential information without proper legal authorization, nor use such 
information to advance their personal, financial or other private interests. 

 
7. Use of Public Resources. Councilmembers and Board and Commission 

members shall not use public resources, such as staff time, equipment, supplies 
or facilities, for private gain or personal purposes. 

 
8. Advocacy. Councilmember and Board and Commission members shall 

represent the official policies or positions of the Council, Board or 
Commission to the best of their ability when designated as delegates for this 
purpose. When presenting their individual opinions and positions, 
Councilmembers and Board and Commission members shall explicitly state 
they do not represent the position of the entire Council, the Board or the 
Commission. 

 
9. Positive Work Environment.  Councilmembers and Board and Commission 

members shall support the maintenance of a positive and constructive work 
environment for City staff, private citizens and businesses dealing with the 
City. Councilmembers and Board and Commission members shall recognize 
their roles in individual dealings with City staff. 

 
  

8.C.1

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 H

ea
ld

sb
u

rg
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 1 of 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF BRENTWOOD ETHICS 

AND CONDUCT POLICY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
 

1. PURPOSE; APPLICABILITY  ........................................................................................... 2 
 

2. CORE VALUES ............................................................................................................... 2 
 

3. PROTOCOL RELATED TO CONDUCT ........................................................................... 5 
[Adapted from Existing Policy 110-1 re City Council Meeting Rules and Procedures, Rules 28-35] 

 
3.1 Ceremonial Events 
3.2 City Letterhead; Correspondence Signatures 
3.3 Travel Expenses 
3.4 Endorsement of Candidates 
3.5 Conduct with City Staff 
3.6 Conduct with Commissions 
3.7 Conduct with Other Public Agencies 
3.8 Conduct with the Public 
3.9 Conduct with the Media 

 
4. IMPLEMENTATION AND ENFORCEMENT...................................................................... 7 

 

 
 

Attachment 1, Certification ........................................................................................................... 11 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 2 of 14 

 
 
 
 

1.        PURPOSE; APPLICABILITY 

 
It is the intent of this Ethics and Conduct Policy (“Policy”) to promote and maintain fair, ethical, and 
accountable local government for the City of Brentwood (“City”).  The people of Brentwood expect 
public officials to comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws of the United States of America 
and of the State of California; the Brentwood Municipal Code; and established policies of the City 
affecting the operations of local government.  All persons covered by this Policy will aspire to meet the 
highest ethical standards in discharging their responsibilities as elected officials of the City. 

 
This Policy addresses various aspects related to the governance of the City of Brentwood and 
supplements, but does not supplant, other laws and rules regarding the legal responsibilities of City 
officials.  These include, but are not limited to, the Federal and State Constitutions; various provisions 
of the California Government Code (such as the Brown Act and the Political Reform Act); laws 
prohibiting  discrimination and harassment;  and the City of  Brentwood Municipal Code.    Elected 
officials are expected to be familiar with these laws to ensure that they exercise their public 
responsibilities in a proper fashion. 

 
While it is not possible to anticipate and provide a rule of conduct and ethics for all situations that 
public officials may face, this Policy is designed to provide a framework to guide public officials in their 
daily duties. 

 
In this Policy, the term “City Council” or “Council Members” includes the Mayor and Vice-Mayor, 
unless the context requires otherwise. Sections 2 and 4 of this Policy apply to Council Members 
acting in their official capacities and in the discharge of their duties. Section 3 applies to the City 
Council and Commissions whenever Commissions are specifically mentioned. 

 

 
 

2.        CORE VALUES. 
 

Attitudes, words, and actions should demonstrate, support, and reflect the following qualities and 
characteristics  for  the  well-being  of  the  community.    The  five  core  values,  developed  by  the 
employees of the City, and expressions that reflect these core values are as follows: 

 
INTEGRITY – uncompromising adherence to moral and ethical principles 

 
• I am honest with my fellow elected officials, City staff, members of the community, and others. 

• I do not promise what I believe to be unrealistic. 

• I am prepared to make unpopular decisions when my sense of the public’s best interests 
requires it. 

• I credit others’ contributions to moving our community’s interests forward. 

• I do not knowingly use false or inaccurate information to support my position or views. 

• I  safeguard  my  ability  to  make  independent,  objective,  fair  and  impartial  judgments  by 
scrupulously   avoiding   financial   and   social   relationships   and   transactions   that   may 
compromise,  or  give  the  appearance  of  compromising,  objectivity,  independence,  and 
honesty. 

• I do the right thing, even when no one is looking. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 3 of 14 

 
 
 

• I use my title(s) only when conducting official City business, for information purposes, or as an 
indication of background and expertise, carefully considering whether I am exceeding or 
appearing to exceed my authority. 

• I do not accept gifts, services or other special considerations for personal benefit because of 
my public position. 

• I excuse myself from participating in decisions when my or my immediate family’s financial 
interests may be affected by my City’s actions. 

• I  do  not  give  special  treatment  or  consideration  to  any  individual  or  group  beyond  that 
available to any other individual. 

• I refrain from disclosing confidential information concerning litigation, personnel, property, or 
other affairs of the City, without proper legal authority, nor use such information to advance my 
financial or other personal interests. 

• I demonstrate concern for the proper use of City assets (such as personnel, time, property, 
equipment, and funds) and follow established procedures. 

• I honor commitments, keep promises and build trust. 
 

PASSION -- boundless enthusiasm for what we do 

 
• I promote meaningful public involvement in the City’s decision-making processes. 

• I approach my responsibilities and work related relationships with zeal and a positive attitude. 

• I provide friendly, receptive, and courteous service to everyone. 

• I am attuned to, and care about the needs and issues of the people of Brentwood, public 
officials and City staff. 

• In my interactions with constituents, I am interested, engaged and responsive. 

• I strongly convey the City’s care for and commitment to the people of Brentwood. 

• I exhibit a proactive, innovative approach to setting goals and conducting the City’s business. 

• I show pride and enthusiasm for the City of Brentwood. 

• I will represent the official polices and positions of the City to the best of my ability when 
designated for this purpose. 

• I am self-motivated and work to motivate others. 

• I continually strive to do better. 

• I persevere through failures. 
 

ACCOUNTABILITY – answerable for our actions 
 

• I  take  responsibility  for  all  that  I  do;  I  am  responsible  for  my  actions  and  accept  the 
consequences of my actions. 

• I do not make promises on behalf of my colleagues without their concurrence at a duly noticed 

public meeting. 

• I treat all persons, claims and transactions in a fair and equitable manner; I make decisions 
based on the merits of the issue. 

• If  I receive substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration from 
sources outside the public decision-making process, I publicly share it with my colleagues and 
staff. 

• I  work  to  contribute  to  a  strong  organization  that  exemplifies  transparency  and  open 
communication. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 4 of 14 

 
 
 

• I do not use public resources, such as City staff time, equipment, supplies or facilities, for 
private gain or personal purposes. 

• I make decisions after prudent consideration of their financial impact, taking into account the 
long-term financial needs of the City, especially its financial stability. 

• I am a prudent steward of public resources and actively consider the impact of my decisions 
on the financial and social stability of the City and its residents. 

 
RESPECT – to feel and show esteem and consideration for others 

 
• I treat my fellow officials, staff and the public with patience, courtesy and civility, even when we 

disagree on what is best for the community. 

• I  understand  that  I  am  one  of  five  members of  the  City Council  and  will  work  towards 
consensus building and gain value from diverse opinions. 

• I respect the distinction between the role of office holder and staff. I involve staff in meetings 
with individuals, those with business before the City, officials from other agencies and 
legislators to ensure proper staff support and to keep staff informed. 

• I conduct myself in a courteous and respectful manner at all times during the performance of 
my official City duties. 

• If I have a concern about the performance of a City employee, I will not express it in public, to 
the employee directly or to the employee’s manager.  Instead, my comments will be made to 
either City Manager or City Attorney, as appropriate. 

• I support a healthy personal and professional balance for myself and staff. 

• I encourage full participation of all persons and groups. 

• I engage in effective two way communication, by listening carefully, asking questions, and 
determining an appropriate response which adds value to conversations. 

• I value and recognize my colleagues, staff and the public for their unique skills, talents and 
perspectives. 

• I respect the governmental process and will perform my duties in accordance with the rules of 
order established by the City Council governing the deliberation of public policy issues, 
meaningful involvement of the public, and implantation of decisions. 

 
QUALITY – the highest degree of excellence 

 
• I strive to keep the City as a municipal leader and work to ensure that we hire, promote and 

retain high caliber employees. 

• I  act  in an efficient manner, making  decisions based on research and facts,  taking  into 
consideration the City’s short and long term goals. 

• I follow through in a responsible way, keeping others informed and responding in a timely 
fashion. 

• I am aware of and follow established City processes and guidelines. 

• I represent the people of Brentwood to the best of my ability 

• I keep my professional knowledge and skills current and growing. 

• I promote intelligent and thoughtful innovation in order to forward the City’s policy agenda and 

City services. 

• I endeavor to produce excellent work that moves the City forward in a positive direction. 

• I consider, understand, and manage risk as I make decisions. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 5 of 14 

 
 
 

• I will base my decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand, rather than on 
unrelated considerations. 

 
 

3.        PROTOCOL RELATED TO CONDUCT 
 

3.1 Ceremonial Events.  Requests for a City representative at ceremonial events will be 
coordinated by City staff. Invitations received at City Hall are initially presumed to be for official City 
representation. Invitations addressed to Council Members at their homes are presumed to be for 
unofficial, personal consideration. 

 

The Mayor will serve as the designated City representative. If the Mayor is unavailable, then 
the Vice- Mayor will be asked to attend.  If the Mayor and Vice-Mayor are both unavailable, 
then City staff will determine if event organizers would like another representative from the City 
Council. (See Policy 110-1, Section 3.3.) 

 
3.2      City Letterhead; Correspondence Signatures. 

 
a. City Letterhead. The use of City letterhead is only for official City business. The 
Mayor or his/her official designee is authorized to sign letters and various other documents on 
City letterhead for the following matters: 

• Letters of commendation or appreciation. 

• Responses to invitations. 

• Cover letters accompanying ceremonial actions or official document 

submittals or any other matter. 

• Letters supporting the League of California Cities position on a matter, unless 

the City Council has taken a contrary position. 

• Letters supporting legislation related to approved City projects. 

• Items routine in nature, experienced in the normal course of conducting the 
business of the City. 

 
Supplies of City letterhead stationery may not be given to individual Council, Commission or 
Board members. 

 
b.        Correspondence  Signatures.     City  staff  may  prepare  official  letters  in 
response to public inquiries and concerns when addressed to the Mayor and/or City 
Council. These letters will carry the signature of the Mayor unless the Mayor requests 
that they be signed by another Council Member or City staff.  If correspondence is 
addressed only to one Council Member, that Council Member should check with the 
City Manager on the best way to respond to the sender. 

 
3.3      Travel  Expenses.    The  policies  and  procedures  related  to  the  reimbursement  of  travel 
expenses for official City business by Council Members and City Commissioners are outlined in the 
City’s Travel Policy and Procedures. (See Council/Administrative Travel Policy No.20-4.) 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 6 of 14 

 
 
 

3.4.     Endorsement of Candidates.   Council Members and City Commissioners have the 
right to endorse candidates for all Council seats or other elected offices. It is inappropriate to 
mention endorsements during Council meetings or other official City meetings. 

 
3.5 Conduct with City Staff. The City Council shall deal with the City staff solely through the City 
Manager or City Attorney and pursuant to Brentwood Municipal Code §§2.36.070 and 2.37.050 as 
may be applicable.  City Commissioners shall deal with the City staff solely through the Department 
Director or staff person assigned as liaison to the particular Commission. 

 
3.6      Conduct with Commissions.          The  City  has  established  several  Commissions  as  a 
means  of  gathering  more  community input.  Citizens  who  serve  on  Commissions  become  more 
involved in government and serve as advisors to the City Council. They are a valuable resource to the 
City’s leadership and should be treated with appreciation and respect. 

 
a. If a Council Member attends a Commission meeting and wishes to speak, he or she 

should state clearly whether he or she is representing the view of the Council as a 
whole or is speaking on behalf of him/herself or another person. 

 
b. Limit contact with Commission members to questions of clarification.  It is inappropriate 

for a Council Member to contact a Commission member to lobby on behalf of an 
individual, business, or developer. 

 
c. Commissions represent and serve the whole community. Commission members are 

not answerable to an individual Council Member. 
 

d. A primary role of Commissions is to represent many points of view in the community 
and to provide the Council with advice based on a full spectrum of concerns and 
perspectives. 

 
Inappropriate behavior by a Commission member should be noted to the Mayor, and the Mayor 
should counsel the offending member. If inappropriate behavior continues, the Mayor should bring the 
situation to the attention of the Council and the individual is subject to removal from the Commission. 
Inappropriate behavior by a Commissioner can lead to removal, under the Municipal Code. 

 
3.7      Conduct with Other Public Agencies.   When meeting with or appearing before another 
public agency (including a semi-pubic agency), a Council Member must be clear about whether the 
member is representing the City or his or her personal interests.  If a Council Member appears before 
another public agency or organization to give a statement on an issue, the Council Member must 
clearly state whether his or her statement reflects personal opinion or is the official stance of the City. 

 
If the Council Member is representing the City, the Council Member must support and advocate the 
official City position on an issue, not a personal viewpoint.  If the Council Member is representing 
another organization whose position is different from the City, the Council Member should withdraw 
from voting on the issue if it significantly impacts or is detrimental to the City’s interest. Council 
Members should be clear about which organizations they represent and inform the Mayor and Council 
of their involvement. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 7 of 14 

 
 
 

3.8      Conduct with the Public. 
 

a.        In Public Meetings.  Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the 
democratic process. No signs of partiality, prejudice or disrespect should be evident on 
the part of individual Council Members toward an individual participating in a public 
forum. Every effort should be made to be fair and impartial in listening to public 
testimony. 

 
1)  Be welcoming to speakers and treat them with respect. 

 
2)  Be fair and equitable in allocating public hearing time to individual speakers. 

 
3)  Be an active listener. 

 
4)  Ask for clarification, but avoid debate and argument with the public. Council Members’ 

personal opinions or inclinations about upcoming votes should not be revealed until after 
the public hearing is closed. 

 
5)  Avoid personal attacks of any kind, under any circumstances. 

 
3.9 Conduct with the Media.  Council Members are frequently contacted by the media for 

background and quotes. Typically, the Mayor is the designated representative of the Council to 
present and speak on the official City position. However, if the media contacts an individual Council 
Member, the Council Member should be clear about whether their comments represent the official 
City position or a personal viewpoint. 

 
 

4.        IMPLEMENTATION AND ENFORCEMENT. 
 

4.1      General.   City of Brentwood elected officials have the primary responsibility to assure that 
ethical standards are understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in 
the integrity of government. This Policy will be most effective when the elected officials are thoroughly 
familiar with it and embrace its provisions. 

 
Upon adoption of this Policy, all current elected officials shall be given a copy of it and asked to 
certify, in writing, that they have received the Policy, understand its provisions, and pledge to conduct 
themselves by the Policy.  All new members of the City Council, upon election or reelection, shall be 
given a copy of the Policy and are required to certify, in writing, they have received it, and understand 
its provisions, and pledge to conduct themselves by the Policy.  (See Attachment 1.) 

 
This Policy is intended to be a reflection of the City Council’s values in concurrence with those of the 
employees of the City of Brentwood and, as appropriate, may be enforced by the Council through 
Section 4.2 below. 

 
4.2      Violations. 

 
The provisions of this Section 4.2 apply exclusively to the Mayor and Council Members, and do not 
extend to members of City Commissions. Violations by Commissioners of this Policy or any other 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 8 of 14 

 
 
 

applicable City Council/Administrative Policy may be considered by the City Council, or by a City 
Council Subcommittee, who will make a recommendation to the City Council on an appropriate City 
Council response. 

 
A City Council Member who does not follow this Policy or any other applicable City policy may face 
admonition, sanction, or censure. 

 
This Section 4.2 sets forth the procedures to be followed when there is a belief that a Council Member 
has violated this Policy or any other applicable City policy.  This Rule shall not be used for violations 
of State or Federal laws as such laws are subject to separate penalty and enforcement provisions 
outside of the City’s purview. 

 
a. Notification  of  Allegation.    If  a  Council  Member  believes  that  another  Council 
Member has violated this Policy or any other applicable City policy, he or she shall notify the 
Mayor.  If the allegation is against the Mayor, the Vice Mayor shall be notified.  If the allegation 
concerns both the Mayor and Vice Mayor, then the most senior Council Member shall be 
notified and, if two Council Members share seniority, then the Council Member who received 
the most votes in their most recent election shall be notified. The person selected will be 
provided with all background information that the Council Member making the allegation has in 
their possession. 

 
Once an allegation has been received, the person receiving the allegation shall meet with the 
City Manager and the City Attorney.  At that time, the person who received the allegation will 
determine  whether  more  information  is  needed,  whether  the  allegation  is  unfounded,  or 
whether to recommend that the full Council hear the allegation. 

 
If the person who received the allegation determines that the allegation is unfounded or 
requires additional information, he or she will notify the Council Member making the allegation. 
At that time, if the Council Member making the allegation is not satisfied with the person’s 
determination, he or she may bring the matter to the full Council for review by asking the City 
Manager, at least a week before the meeting, to place it on the next City Council Agenda; and 
the City Manager will notify the Council Member against whom the allegation is made about 
the violation and the future agenda item. 

 
If the person receiving the allegation determines that the allegation should be brought to the 
City Council for review, at least a week before the meeting he or she will ask the City Manager 
to place it on the next City Council Agenda for discussion under the New Business portion of 
the Agenda; and the City Manager will notify the Council Member against whom the allegation 
is made about the violation and future agenda item. 

 
Should an allegation be brought to the City Council, the City Manager, in consultation with the 
City Attorney, will prepare a brief staff report that, among other things, reminds the City 
Council of this Rule.  It will be the responsibility of the City Council Member making the 
allegation to present the matter to his/her colleagues. 

 
b.        Potential Council Actions.  While the City Council has broad discretion in deciding 
which of the three potential actions below it may choose to impose in response to violations of 
this Policy or any other applicable policy, the following are definitions and procedures related 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 9 of 14 

 
 
 

to three types of actions: admonition, sanction and censure.  Admonition and sanctions are not 
considered punishments and there are no penalties associated with them; a censure is 
considered a punishment and may include penalties. 

 
Admonition 
This is the least severe form of action. Admonition may typically be directed to all 
members of the City Council, reminding them that a particular type of behavior is in 
violation of City policy and that, if it occurs or is found to have occurred, could make a 
member subject to sanction or censure. Admonition may be issued in response to a 
particular alleged action or actions, although it would not necessarily have to be 
triggered by such allegations.  Admonition may be issued by the City Council prior to 
any findings of fact regarding allegations, and because it is a warning or reminder, 
would not require a separate hearing to determine whether the allegation is true. 

 
Sanction 
This is the next most severe form of action. Sanction should be directed to a particular 
member of the City Council based on a particular action (or set of actions) that is 
determined to be in violation of City policy, but is considered by the City Council to be 
not sufficiently serious to require censure.  A sanction is distinguished from censure in 
that it is not a punishment.  A sanction may be issued based upon City Council review 
and consideration of a written allegation of a policy violation. The member accused of 
such violation will have the opportunity to provide a written or verbal response to the 
allegation. A sanction may be issued by the City Council and because it is not 
punishment or discipline, would not require a separate hearing. 

 
Censure 
Censure is the most severe form of action contemplated in this policy and available to 
the  City  Council.  Censure  is  a  formal  statement  of  the  City  Council  officially 
reprimanding one of its members. It is a punitive action, which serves as a penalty 
imposed for wrongdoing.   It may be combined with loss of committee assignments 
(either within the City of Brentwood or with inter-governmental agencies) or the 
restriction of official travel. 

 
Censure should be used for cases in which the City Council determines the policy 
violation is a serious offense. 

 
In order to protect the overriding principle of freedom of speech, the City Council shall 
not impose censure on any of its members for the exercise of their First Amendment 
rights, no matter how distasteful the expression was to the Council and the City. 
However,  nothing  here  in  shall  be  construed  to  prohibit  the  City  Council  from 
collectively condemning and expressing their strong disapproval of such remarks. 

 
c.        City  Council  Discussion;  Admonition  or  Sanction.    At  the  meeting  when  the 
allegation is to be considered, the City Council may discuss it and determine whether to issue 
an admonition or sanction; or to hold a separate hearing to consider censure. Where the City 
Council decides to issue an admonition or sanction, a resolution may be prepared for the next 
meeting based upon the City Council discussion and direction. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 10 of 14 

 
 
 

d.        Censure.   If the City Council decides to conduct a separate public hearing on the 
question of censure, they will direct the City Manager, in consultation with the City Attorney, to 
engage the services of an independent third party investigator to conduct an investigation of 
the matter, prepare factual findings and make a recommendation as to the allegation’s merit to 
the City Council.   At that time, the City Council will also set a “not to exceed” investigation 
budget.  Should, in the course of the investigation, it appear that the investigator’s costs will 
exceed the approved budgeted amount, then the City Council will be notified, at a duly noticed 
public meeting, to determine whether to increase the budget or stop the investigation. 

 
If the investigator determines there is no factual merit to the allegation, that information will be 
conveyed to the City Council prior to a censure hearing. At that time, the City Council will 
determine whether to take no additional action; or to issue an admonition or a sanction. 

 
If the investigator determines there is factual merit to the allegation, a report of the factual 
findings shall be presented to the City Council for hearing and determination. 

 
e.        Censure Hearing.  If a separate hearing is set to consider the question of censure, it 
must be set far enough in advance to give the Council Member subject to the allegation 
adequate time to prepare a defense. 

 
The person who received the original allegation from the Council Member who made the 
allegation will preside at the hearing. The rules of evidence will not apply to the hearing, which 
is not a formal adversarial proceeding. 

 
The investigator will present his or her report and the City Council, including the Council 
Member who is the subject of the investigation, will have the opportunity to question the 
investigator.  The Council Member who is the subject of the allegation will have an opportunity 
to present a rebuttal to the allegation, which shall be limited to thirty minutes unless extended 
by the City Council.   The Council Member who is the subject of the allegation may be 
represented at the hearing and may have the representative speak or ask questions on his or 
her behalf.  The City Council may also allow the testimony of a limited number of witnesses. 
The right to present witnesses shall be within the absolute discretion of the City Council. 

 
Following  the  rebuttal,  any  witness  testimony  and  any  closing  statement  of  the  Council 
Member who is the subject of the allegation, the City Council shall hear public comments.  At 
the conclusion of the public comments, the City Council shall discuss the matter and render a 
decision on whether to censure the Council Member against whom the allegation has been 
raised 

 
Should the City Council decide to censure the Council Member against whom the allegation 
has been raised, they shall direct the City Manager, in consultation with the City Attorney, to 
prepare a resolution making findings and penalties with regard to the specific charges, based 
on substantial evidence.   The resolution will be considered by the City Council at a duly 
noticed public meeting. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



COUNCIL/ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY  

 

Subject: Ethics and Conduct Policy Policy No: 110-5 Date: 6/14/2016 

Resolution No: 
2016-74 

Page 11 of 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revision History 
 

Date Resolution No. 
5-13-2014 2014-55 adopted original Policy 110-5 
6-14-2016 2016-74 Amended Policy 110-5 (Revising Sections 1 and 3 and adding 

Section 2 edited from former Policy 110-1, Rules 28-36. 

8.C.2

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

re
n

tw
o

o
d

 E
th

ic
s 

an
d

 C
o

n
d

u
ct

 P
o

lic
y 

 (
C

o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
C

o
n

d
u

ct
)



City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct 

for Elected Officials and Members of 

Appointed Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

1 Adopted 9/9/19; Rev. 10/29/19 

 

 

 

 

Statement of Purpose 

 
The citizens and businesses of Simi Valley are entitled to have fair, ethical and accountable 

local government which has earned the public’s full confidence for integrity. The City of Simi 

Valley’s strong desire to fulfill this mission therefore requires that: 

 
• public officials,  both elected and appointed, comply with both the letter and spirit of the 

laws and policies affecting the operations of government; 
 

•  public officials be independent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions; 
 

•  public office be used for the public good, not for personal gain; and 
 

• public deliberations and processes be conducted openly, unless legally confidential,  in an 

atmosphere of respect and civility. 

 
To this end, the Simi Valley City Council has adopted this Code of Ethics and Conduct for 

elected officials and members of appointed boards,  commissions,  and committees to assure 

public confidence in the integrity of local government and its effective and fair operation. 
 
1.  Act in the Public Interest 

 
Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern,  members 

will work  for  the common good of the people of Simi Valley and not for  any private  or 

personal interest, and they will assure fair and equal treatment of all persons, claims and 

transactions   coming  before   the   Simi  Valley  City   Council,   boards,   commissions,   and 

committees. 

 
2.     Comply with the Law 

 
Members shall comply with the laws of the nation, the State of California, and the City of Simi 

Valley in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: the 

United States and California constitutions; laws pertaining to conflicts of interest, election 

campaigns, financial disclosures, employer responsibilities, and open processes of government; 

and City ordinances and policies. 

 
3.  Conduct of Members 

 
The professional and personal conduct of members must be above reproach and avoid even the 

appearance of impropriety.  Members shall refrain from abusive conduct,  personal charges or 

verbal  attacks  upon  the  character   or   motives  of  other  members  of  Council,   boards, 

commissions, and committees, the staff or public. 

8.C.3

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

im
i V

al
le

y 
C

o
d

e 
o

f 
E

th
ic

s 
an

d
 C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



2 Adopted 9/9/19; Rev. 10/29/19 

City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct 

for Elected Officials and Members of 

Appointed Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 

 

 

 

4.     Respect for Process 

 
Members shall perform their duties in accordance with the processes and rules of order 

established by the City Council and boards, commissions, and committees governing the 

deliberation of public policy issues, meaningful involvement of the public, and implementation 

of policy decisions of the City Council by City staff. 

 
5.  Conduct of Public Meetings 

 
Members shall prepare themselves for public issues; listen courteously and attentively to all 

public discussions before the body; and focus on the business at hand. They shall refrain from 

interrupting other speakers,  making personal comments not germane to the business of the 

body, or otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of meetings. 

 
6.     Decisions Based on Merit 

 
Members shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand. 

 
7.  Communication 

 
Members shall publicly share substantive information that is relevant to a matter under 

consideration by the Council or boards,  commissions,  and committees which they may have 

received from sources outside the public decision-making process. 

 
8.     Conflict of Interest 

 
In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the common good, members 

shall not use their official positions to influence government decisions in which they have a 

material financial interest or personal relationship which may give the appearance of a conflict 

of interest.  In accordance with the law,  members shall disclose investments,  interests in real 

property,   sources   of  income,   and  gifts;   and  they  shall  abstain  from   participating  in 

deliberations and decision-making where conflicts may exist. 

 
9.  Gifts and Favors 

 
Members  shall  comply  with  the  requirements  of  the  Political  Reform  Act  relating  to  the 

acceptance and reporting of gifts. 

8.C.3

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

im
i V

al
le

y 
C

o
d

e 
o

f 
E

th
ic

s 
an

d
 C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



3 Adopted 9/9/19; Rev. 10/29/19 

City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct 

for Elected Officials and Members of 

Appointed Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 

 

 

 

10.   Confidential Information 

 
Members shall respect the confidentiality of information concerning City property,  personnel 

or proceedings of the City. They shall neither disclose confidential information without proper 

legal authorization, nor use such information to advance their personal interests. 
 

11.  Use of Public Resources 
 

Members shall not use public resources not available to the public in general, such as City staff 

time, equipment, supplies or facilities, for private gain or personal purposes.   Members shall 

not utilize the City’s name or logo for the purpose of endorsing any political candidate or 

business. 

 
12.   Representation of Private Interests 

 
In keeping with their role as stewards of the public interest,  members of Council shall not 

appear on behalf of the private interests of third parties before the Council or any board, 

commission, committee, or proceeding of the City, nor shall members of boards, commissions, 

and committees appear before their own bodies or before the Council on behalf of the private 

interests of third parties on matters related to the areas of service of their bodies. 

 
13. Advocacy  

 
Members  shall  represent  the  official  policies  or  positions  of  the  City  Council,   board, 

commission, or committee to the best of their ability when designated as delegates for this 

purpose.  When presenting their  individual opinions and positions,  members shall explicitly 

state they do not represent  their body or  the City of Simi Valley,  nor will they allow the 

inference that they do. 

 
14.   Policy Role of Members 

 
Members shall respect and adhere to the council-manager structure of Simi Valley city 

government as outlined in the City’s policies and procedures and follow Simi Valley Municipal 

Code Section 2-6.208 with respect to the City Manager’s relationship with the City Council. In 

this structure, the City Council determines the policies of the City with the advice, information 

and analysis provided by the public,  boards,  commissions,  and committees and City staff. 

Except as provided by the City ordinance, members therefore shall not interfere with the 

administrative functions of the City or  the professional duties of City staff;  nor  shall they 

impair the ability of staff to implement Council policy decisions. 

8.C.3

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

im
i V

al
le

y 
C

o
d

e 
o

f 
E

th
ic

s 
an

d
 C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



4 Adopted 9/9/19; Rev. 10/29/19 

City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct 

for Elected Officials and Members of 

Appointed Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 

 

 

 

15.   Independence of Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 
Because of the value of the independent advice of boards, commissions, and committees to the 

public decision-making process, members of Council shall refrain from using their position to 

influence unduly the deliberations or outcomes of board, commission, and committee 

proceedings. 

 
16.  Positive Work Place Environment 

 
Members shall support the maintenance of a positive and constructive work place environment 

for City employees and for citizens and businesses dealing with the City. Members shall 

recognize their special role in dealings with City employees and refrain from creating the 

perception of inappropriate direction to staff. 

 
17.   Implementation 

 
As an expression of the standards of conduct for  members expected by the City,  the Simi 

Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct is intended to be self-enforcing. It therefore becomes most 

effective when members are thoroughly familiar with it and embrace its provisions.  For this 

reason,  ethical standards shall be included in the regular orientations for candidates for City 

Council, applicants to boards, commissions, and committees and newly elected and appointed 

officials.   Members  entering  office  shall  sign  a  statement  affirming  they  have  read  and 

understood the City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct.  In addition,  the Code of 

Ethics and Conduct shall be reviewed bi-annually by the City Council,  boards,  commissions, 

and   committees,   and  the   City   Council   shall   consider   recommendations  from   boards, 

commissions,  and  committees and  update  it  as  necessary  in  November  of  even-numbered 

years. 

 
18. Compliance and Enforcement  

 
The Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct expresses standards of ethical conduct expected 

for  members  of  the  Simi  Valley  City  Council,   boards,   commissions,   and  committees. 

Members themselves have the primary responsibility to assure that ethical standards are 

understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in the integrity of 

government. The chairs of boards, commissions, and committees and the Mayor have the 

additional responsibility to intervene when members’ actions appear to be in violation of the 

Code of Ethics and Conduct are  brought  to their  attention.  The City Council may impose 

sanctions on members whose conduct does not comply with the City’s ethical standards, such 

as reprimand,  formal censure,  loss of seniority or committee assignment.  The City Council 

also may act to remove members of boards, commissions, and committees from office. 

8.C.3

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

im
i V

al
le

y 
C

o
d

e 
o

f 
E

th
ic

s 
an

d
 C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)



5 Adopted 9/9/19; Rev. 10/29/19 

City of Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct 

for Elected Officials and Members of 

Appointed Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 

 

 
STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT 

 
As a member of the Simi Valley City Council or of a Simi Valley board, commission, or 
committee,  I  agree  to  uphold  the  Code  of  Ethics  and  Conduct  for  elected  and  appointed 
officials adopted by the City Council and conduct myself by the following model of behavior. I 
will: 

 
• Recognize  the  worth  of  individual  members  and  appreciate  their  individual  talents, 

perspectives and contributions; 
 

• Help create an atmosphere of respect and civility where individual members, City staff and 
the public are free to express their ideas and work to their full potential; 

 

• Conduct my personal and public affairs with honesty, integrity,  fairness and respect for 
others; 

 

•  Respect the dignity and privacy of individuals and organizations; 
 

• Keep  the  common  good  as  my  highest  purpose  and  focus  on  achieving  constructive 
solutions for the public benefit; 

 

•  Avoid and discourage conduct which is divisive or harmful to the best interests of Simi 
Valley; 

 

•  Treat all people with whom I come in contact in the way I wish to be treated. 
 
 

I affirm that I have read and that I understand,  accept and support the City of Simi Valley 
Code of Ethics and Conduct. 

 

 
Board, Commission, Committee 

 

 
Position 

 

 
(Print Name) 

 

 
Signature Date 

8.C.3

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

im
i V

al
le

y 
C

o
d

e 
o

f 
E

th
ic

s 
an

d
 C

o
n

d
u

ct
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 C
o

d
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
d

u
ct

)


	Agenda Packet
	
	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	3. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	4. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	5. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS
	6. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS
	A. FAC appointments
	Printout: FAC appointments
	1. Cullen Finance Application


	7. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Approval of City Council Minutes
	Printout: Approval of City Council Minutes
	1. 1-9 draft minutes

	B. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 12/06/19 City Check Register
	2. 12/13/19 City Check Register
	3. 12/20/19 City Check Register
	4. 12/27/19 City Check Register

	C. Budget Calendar
	Printout: Budget Calendar
	1. Budget Calendar FY 20-21


	8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Overview of New Legislation for Accessory Dwelling Units
	Printout: Overview of New Legislation for Accessory Dwelling Units
	1. Government Code 65852.2 - Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020
	2. Government Code 65852.22 - Junior Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020
	3. Health and Safety Code 18007 - Manufactured Homes - 01.01.2008

	B. Photo Enforcement Contract
	Printout: Photo Enforcement Contract
	1. Draft red-light camera contract
	2. Photo Enforcement Collision Data

	C. Consider Code of Conduct
	Printout: Consider Code of Conduct
	1. Healdsburg Code of Conduct
	2. Brentwood Ethics and Conduct Policy
	3. Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct


	9. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	6.A · FAC appointments
	6.A.1 · Cullen Finance Application

	7.A · Approval of City Council Minutes
	7.A.1 · 1-9 draft minutes

	7.B · Approval of City Check Registers
	7.B.1 · 12/06/19 City Check Register
	7.B.2 · 12/13/19 City Check Register
	7.B.3 · 12/20/19 City Check Register
	7.B.4 · 12/27/19 City Check Register

	7.C · Budget Calendar
	7.C.1 · Budget Calendar FY 20-21

	8.A · Overview of New Legislation for Accessory Dwelling Units
	8.A.1 · Government Code 65852.2 - Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020
	8.A.2 · Government Code 65852.22 - Junior Accessory Dwelling Units - 01.01.2020
	8.A.3 · Health and Safety Code 18007 - Manufactured Homes - 01.01.2008

	8.B · Photo Enforcement Contract
	8.B.1 · Draft red-light camera contract
	8.B.2 · Photo Enforcement Collision Data

	8.C · Consider Code of Conduct
	8.C.1 · Healdsburg Code of Conduct
	8.C.2 · Brentwood Ethics and Conduct Policy
	8.C.3 · Simi Valley Code of Ethics and Conduct



